

EVENT RECORDERS ALARM REPORTERS DATA LOGGERS CLOCK SYNCHRONIZERS CURRENT SENSORS VOLTAGE MONITORS BATTERY MONITORS LIGHT OUT DETECTORS CUSTOM ENGINEERING







# CWR How-To Training Guide for Engineers and Technicians

Revised: October 19, 2016

MICRO-AIDE CORPORATION

 Tel: 626-915-5502
 Fax

 685 Arrow Grand Circle
 C

Fax: 626-331-9484 Covina, CA 91722 E-mail: support@micro-aide.com

Copyright<sup>®</sup> 2012 by MICRO-AIDE Corporation

All rights reserved. No part of this document may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means without the written permission of MICRO-AIDE Corporation.

The information in this document is subject to change without notice. MICRO-AIDE believes the information contained in this document to be accurate. However, MICRO-AIDE assumes no responsibility for any errors or omissions.

Windows XP, Windows 7, Windows Explorer, Word and Notepad are registered trademarks of Microsoft Corporation.

HyperTerminal is a registered trademark of Hilgraeve Inc.

Ethernet is a registered trademark of Xerox Corporation.



## LEARN HOW-TO ...

#### INTRODUCTION

About this Guide	ix	
Background	ix	
Tasks	ix	
What this Guide Assumes	X	
Conventions	X	
Labels Within Windows	X	
What You Must Type	X	
Pressing a Specific Key	X	
Recorder Labels and References	X	
Identifying Sub-Commands	X	
Links	X	
Recording Device Applicability	×	C
Setup Database	xi	
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
	vi	
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
	· · · · · · · · · · · ×	
	XI	
PREPARE A PC SERIAL CONNECTION		
Before You Start	1	
What to Do	1	
Creating a New Serial Connection	1	
Setting the Baud Rate, Bit Coding and Emulation	2	
PREPARE A PC USB CONNECTION		
Before You Start	5	
What to Do	5	
Creating a New USB Connection	5	

### PREPARE A PC ETHERNET CONNECTION

Before You Start .		 	•																 •	• •		ç	9
What to Do		 	•				•		•					•				•	 •		•	9	9

. 6

Creating a New T Setting the Emula Creating Additior	Inet Connection       9         on       11         Inet Connections       11
PREPARE A PC Mod Before You Start What to Do Creating a New M Assigning the Emu	<b>M CONNECTION</b>
Log ON	
Before You Start What to Do Launch the Conn Enter the Passwor Related Features Default Password: Navigating and S Logging Off	
KEEP THE RECORDER	S CLOCK ACCURATE
Before You Start What to Do Manually Set the Selecting the Time Synchronizing the Related Features Clock Sync Recor SNTP-Unicast (CW	
SECURE THE RECORD	NG DEVICE
Before You Start What to Do Using a PC and H Related Features In Case the Admi	
IDENTIFY THE RECORD Rules for Creating a Pr Before You Start What to Do	ING SITE
	DODT PAUD PATE
Before You Start What to Do Using a PC and H	L FORT DAUD MATE
SET THE MODEM ANS Before You Start	<b>NER DELAY</b>

iv

тс

What to Do
Report Excessive Temperatures         Before You Start.
LABEL EVENT RECORDS FOR ADDED CLARITY         Background Information
NAME AND IDENTIFY INPUTS         Before You Start.
Set Validation Times for Digital Inputs         Before You Start.
Before You Start.       41         What to Do       41         Flash (Enable / Disable).       42         Detect Time Value       42         Related Features       43         Measure Flash Rate       43         Flash Rate Reporting       43
Use Analog Inputs to Monitor Power Before You Start

тс

#### NETWORK A RECORDING DEVICE

Beta	pre You Start.	•	•		•	•		•	•	·	·	•	•	• •	• •	•	•	·	·	•	•	 •	·	•	•	•	 •	•	•	•	•	·	•	•	•	•	 . 49
Who	at to Do		•					•						•						•	•				•	•			•		•	•	•			•	 49
Relo	ated Features		•					•		•		•								•	•			•			 		•			•	•			•	 50
	Making an Et	he	rn	et	Сс	onr	ne	cti	or	۱.	•	•	•		•		•	•	•	•	•			•	•				•		•	•	•	•		•	 50

## MEASURE TIMES BETWEEN EVENTS

Before You Start							•	 •	•	•	• •	•	•	•	•	 	 •	•	.51
What to Do	 •														•	 			. 52
Related Features	 •				•								•			 			. 53
Event Name Pairs	 •				•								•			 			. 53
Timer Input Event Records																 			. 53

### MEASURE TRAIN SPEED

Before You Start	
What to Do	
Related Features	
System Inputs	
Train Speed Monitor Event Records	

### **R**EVIEW THE **C**ONFIGURATION

Before You Start	 •		•	•		•	•	 •	•	 •	•	•	•	 •		•	•	•	•	•	59
What to Do	 •		• •							 •		•	•	 •			•			•	59
Related Features	 •		•							 •		•	•	 •			•	•		•	60
Printing the Setup Database																					. 60

### SAVE A COPY OF THE SETUP DATABASE

Before You	Start .	•	•	•			•	•	 	•	•	•	 •	•	 •	•	 •	•	 •	•	•	 •	•	•	•	•	61
What to Do				•					 			•		•		•			 •				•			•	. 61

## **R**ESTORE THE **S**ETUP **D**ATABASE

Before You S	Start.	•			•	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	 •	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	 •	 	•	. 63
What to Do																									 	 		. 63

### VIEW EVENT RECORDS

Before You Start
What to Do
Selecting Dates
Selecting Times and Report Options
Related Features
Pausing, Restarting and Terminating a Dump Report
Saving Event Records to a PC File
Saving Event Records to a USB Flash Drive

## SAVE EVENT RECORDS TO A PC FILE

Before You Start
What to Do
Selecting Dates
Selecting Times and Report Options

тс

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Setting Up Capture Mode	2222
SAVE EVENT RECORDS WITHOUT USING A PC	
Before You Start	5
What to Do	5
Saving Event Records from a Complete Day	5
Saving Event Records from a Range of Times and Dates	, 7
Files Written to the Flash Drive	,
Reviewing the Text File.	3
VIEW EVENT RECORDS IN REAL-TIME	
Before You Start.	Ś
Related Features	)
Saving Real-Time Event Records to a PC File	)
View a Captured Text File	)
Pausing, Restarting and Terminating a View Events Report	)
Viewing Live Status	)
Select and Interpret Event Record Content	
Before You Start	
Event Record Formatting	
Include Details-No Option	2
Include Details-Yes Option	2
Related Features	}
Andlog Limit Values	, 1
	r
VIEW THE CURRENT STATUS OF INPUTS	
Before You Start	5
What to Do	) -
CWR-24E Example	) (
Related Features	Ś
View Events As They Occur	Ś
MEASURE A FLASH BATE	
Refore You Start	,
What to Do         87	7
Related Features	3
Flash Rate Reporting within Event Records	3

тс

## TEST YOUR RECORDING DEVICE

Before You Start	9
What to Do	9
Program Memory Test	9
Flash Memory Test	9
GPS Receiver Test	0
Ethernet Port	0
Modem	1
Keypad Test	1
Relay Test	1
Temperature $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $.$	1
Related Features	2
In Case of a Test Failure	2

## INSTALL THE LATEST FIRMWARE

Getting the Latest Firmware	3
Before You Start	3
What to Do	3
Using a PC and HyperTerminal	3
From the Front Panel $\ldots$	5

## CLEAR UNWANTED EVENT RECORD DATA

Before You Start	.97
What to Do	.97
Related Features	. 98
Resetting the Setup Database Memory	. 98



## WELCOME

This Training Guide was written with you in mind-our user. Since the late 1980s MICRO-AIDE has been designing and manufacturing Event Recorders for the Rail Signal Industry. Our recorders have been praised for their ease-of-use, utility and durability. Over the years we have also strived to provide you with comprehensive documentation. This guide's objective is to explain, step-by-step, how to perform one important recorder task at a time. We think you'll find this guide indispensable when working with our recording devices.

## **ABOUT THIS GUIDE**

#### BACKGROUND

In 1996 MICRO-AIDE introduced the first member of its CWR family of Event Recorders. Since then, the original CWR-22 has been accompanied by many new recorders that have varied principally by their input capacity and physical size. Presently, the CWR family includes products whose input capacities extend from 20 to 4096 Digital Inputs.

In 2007 MICRO-AIDE created a new and very unique family of recording devices that gather information directly from the data port of a PLC. These products are referred to as Vital-Processor Data Loggers (VDLs). The only significant difference between the CWR and VDL product families is that a VDL does not include any Digital Inputs. A VDL creates Digital Input Event Records by reading bit transitions within the PLC.

Unless otherwise stated, throughout the remainder of this guide the terms recorder and recording device are meant to reference all members of the CWR recorder and VDL product families.

Despite the tremendous variation in capacities, all of the MICRO-AIDE recording devices feature an identical user interface. The manner in which you interact with each device is the same. Logging on, selecting a command and assigning a parameter involve identical steps on your part. The benefit to you is that once you've learned how to operate one device, you've learned how to operate all of our recording devices.

## TASKS

This Training Guide contains individual blocks of instruction referred to as tasks. One task may include instructions on how to assign a site ID. Another task may provide details on how to capture Event Records to a PC file. In all cases, tasks are devoted to a particular activity that you will likely need to perform in the future. Please take a quick look at the "Table of Contents" as it provides a concise overview of the various tasks included in this guide.

All instruction guides have a starting point. This one is no different. Task 1 "Creating a HyperTerminal Serial Connection" on page 1 and Task 5 "Getting to the Main Menu" on page 17 are key and must be understood and performed before you can proceed further. After that you are free to perform any task in any order that best suits your needs. However, the sequence of tasks listed in the guide is intentional. For the most part they are listed in a sequence consistent with normal use of the recorder; that is, the steps you would most likely take when using a recorder for the first time.

## WHAT THIS GUIDE ASSUMES

You can access your recorder via several methods. Accessing a recorder can be accomplished via the serial Terminal Port, USB Device Port, optional Ethernet port, optional internal modem or front panel LCD and keypad. This guide starts off by offering basic instructions on how to access the recorder via a Terminal Port. This is the most common method used to dialog with a recorder. Other tasks describe the use of the Ethernet Port, modem and USB Device Port. It is further assumed that you will be using a Windows®-based PC and that HyperTerminal® is installed and available for use as the required communications application. Windows 7® was used throughout the preparation of this guide. Your operating system may differ, but the differences will not be significant.

## CONVENTIONS

This guide uses several typographic and reference conventions to clarify what you must select, enter or type. Each are described in the following sections.

### LABELS WITHIN WINDOWS

This guide shows you how to perform several tasks that rely upon your ability to execute Windows-related commands. "Connect using" is an example of a command, field or tab that can be found within Windows. A Windows-related label will always be enclosed in quotes.

### WHAT YOU MUST TYPE

By way of example, many of the tasks include cases where you must enter a parameter. **PASSWORD** illustrates the style of font used for this purpose. The user should assume that the letter-case shown must be used.

#### PRESSING A SPECIFIC KEY

In some cases a specific key on the keyboard of the PC must be pressed. **Enter** and **Esc** illustrate this convention. Your recorder is equipped with a front-panel-mounted keypad that comprises twenty pushbutton switches. Each pushbutton is identified with an appropriate silkscreened label. *Browse* and *Enter* illustrate the italic style used to identify these keys.

#### **Recorder Labels and References**

The recorder includes many of its own labels. A specific menu, command, field or setting must be properly identified. A normal font with appropriate first letter capitalization is used for this purpose. Main Menu illustrates this convention.

#### **IDENTIFYING SUB-COMMANDS**

The recorder implements numerous commands and sub-commands. As has been previously described, a normal font and first letter capitalization is used to identify recorder commands (e.g., Setup). Sub-commands include an intermediate right-angle bracket character (e.g., Setup>System Parameters).

#### LINKS

Like all MICRO-AIDE prepared user documentation, this manual is available for downloading as a PDF document at our website. The PDF version includes numerous click-able links. An example of a link is: "If You Need Help" on page xi.

## **Recording Device Applicability**

All of MICRO-AIDE's recording devices share a common user interface. This means that once you become familiar with a CWR-24E you'll know how to work with a CWR-72E, CWR-264XL, etc. Nevertheless, in this Training Guide it will be less confusing to the reader if only one recording device is referenced. Unless

L

otherwise stated, the CWR-24E is referred to throughout this guide. Specifically, sample commands and data have been taken from a CWR-24E running firmware version 1.08.

	List of MIC	RO-AIDE Recordi	ng Devices	
CWR-22xT	CWR-22XL	CWR-24E	CWR-56	CWR-72
CWR-40E	CWR-72E	CWR-264	CWR-264E	CWR-264XL
CWR-264XC	CWR-272	CWR-272E	CWR-272XL	VDL

This guide is applicable to the MICRO-AIDE recording devices listed in Table 1.

Table 1: Training Guide Applicability

## SETUP DATABASE

All MICRO-AIDE Event Recorders include a user-defined Setup Database. Each Setup Database must be unique to each recorder. A Setup Database can be thought of as a collection of various names, labels and settings that add clarity to the Event Records and various reports issued by the recorder. Setup Databases are saved in the non-volatile memory of the recorder.

Unless otherwise noted, this Training Guide assumes that the recorder's factory default settings have not been altered. Various tasks instruct the user how to change these settings to suit the user's requirements.

## ACCESS CONTROL AND SECURITY

Each Event Recorder includes several access points (e.g., Terminal Port, front panel keypad, etc.) by which a user can interact with the recorder. However, irrespective of the access point each user must log onto the recorder by first honoring a password or the Passcode. There are no exceptions to this rule. There are two levels of access that are employed by the Terminal Port, Ethernet Port, USB Device Port and modem. Both levels of access control and the Passcode are described in the following.

#### **ADMINISTRATIVE ACCESS**

The Administrative Password allows the user full access and control of the recorder. The factory default Administrative Password is **PASSWORD**. Passwords are always case-sensitive.

### **Restricted** Access

The Restricted Password allows the user only limited access and control of the recorder. The factory default Restricted Password is **LOOKWORD**. Passwords are always case-sensitive.

#### PASSCODE

The correct Passcode must be entered to gain access via the front panel keypad. The factory default Passcode is *12345678*.

## IF YOU NEED HELP

If at any time you need help, we encourage you to contact us. We can be reached as follows:

#### MICRO-AIDE CORPORATION

685 Arrow Grand Circle Covina, CA 91722 Tel: 626-915-5502 Fax: 626-331-9484 E-mail: support@micro-aide.com

If you believe this Training Guide can be improved by the inclusion of an additional task(s), don't hesitate to inform us. Our objective is to make this document useful, and you know best how that can be accomplished.

User Notes		
1		



Task 1

## CREATING A HYPERTERMINAL SERIAL CONNECTION

Your recording device is equipped with either one or two Terminal Ports. Unless otherwise stated, this guide assumes that you will be accessing your recorder via a Terminal Port and that a PC running HyperTerminal will be used to facilitate the required connection.

## BEFORE YOU START

Your PC must have HyperTerminal installed and ready for use. You should be familiar with the steps necessary to launch your Windows operating system and log on as a user. You should also be familiar with basic Windows operations, such as selecting commands and using the mouse.

## **WHAT TO DO**

We'll begin by creating a new connection for use with your recording devices. We'll then set the Baud rate, bit coding and terminal emulation for the connection. Perform the steps listed in each section in the order given.

## CREATING A NEW SERIAL CONNECTION

- 1. Using your mouse, click in the lower left-hand corner of your desktop in the area labeled "Start". Then click in the area labeled "All Programs".
- 2. Click on the folder labeled "HyperTerminal" to expand it.
- 3. Click the sub-list item labeled "HyperTerminal". After a short delay the following dialog box labeled "Connection Description" will appear.

Connection Description
New Connection
Enter a name and choose an icon for the connection:
Name:
lcon:
OK Cancel

HyperTerminal-New Connection Dialog Box

4. In the edit box labeled "Name:" enter a label that identifies the new connection. As an example, type **CWR Recorder**. Click the button labeled "OK". The following dialog box named "Connect To" will appear.

1

1

#### How-To TRAINING GUIDE

Connect To
CWR Recorder
Enter details for the phone number that you want to dial:
Country/region: United States (1)
Enter the area code without the long-distance prefix.
Area code: 626
Phone number:
Connect using:
Configure  Detect Carrier Loss  Use country/region code and area code Redial on busy
OK Cancel

HyperTerminal-Connect To Dialog Box

- 5. Click the down arrow at the right edge of the drop-down list box labeled "Connect using:". Select an available comm port such as "Com1", "Com2", "Com5", etc.
- 6. Click the button labeled "OK" to accept the new comm port assignment.

A new HyperTerminal connection has been created. It is now necessary to assign the correct Baud rate, bit coding and emulation for the connection.

### SETTING THE BAUD RATE, BIT CODING AND EMULATION

7. After selecting the comm port for the new connection the dialog box named "Com Properties" will be displayed. An example is shown in the following step. Your dialog box will actually be labeled with the comm port number you selected earlier.



The default Baud rate setting for all MICRO-AIDE recording devices is 38,400. This setting will work unless it was previously altered. The bit coding must be set as shown in the following. It must not be altered. The setting is referred to as 8-N-1.

8. Set the five fields as they are shown in the following.

CON	15 Properties			? <b>x</b>
Po	ort Settings			
	Bits per second:	38400		•
	Data bits:	8		•
	Parity:	None		•
	Stop bits:	1		•
	Flow control:	Hardware		•
			Restore	Defaults
	0	к	Cancel	Apply

HyperTerminal-Com Properties Dialog Box

9. Click the button labeled "OK". A blank HyperTerminal window will appear.

#### MICRO-AIDE

- 10. Click the "File>Properties" command located in the menu bar at the top of the HyperTerminal window. A dialog box labeled "CWR Recorder Properties" will be displayed.
- 11. At the top of the dialog box click the tab labeled "Settings". A dialog box similar to the following will be displayed.

CWR Recorder Properties
Connect To Settings
Function, arrow, and ctrl keys act as
<ul> <li>Terminal keys</li> <li>Windows keys</li> </ul>
Backspace key sends
Ctrl+H
Emulation:
ANSI  Terminal Setup Colors
Telnet terminal ID: ANSI
Backscroll buffer lines: 500
Play sound when connecting or disconnecting
Allow remote host initiated file transfers
Input Translation ASCII Setup
OK Cancel

HyperTerminal-Properties Dialog Box (Settings Tab)

- 12. Modify the various settings to match those listed in the previous screen. Make sure that the dropdown list box labeled "Emulation:" is set to "ANSI".
- 13. Double check everything. If all the settings are correct click the button labeled "OK".

14. Click the "File>Save" command.

Your PC now has a newly defined comm port connection that is tailored for your recorder. You can also use it to access your other recorders. To launch the new connection simply click the icon labeled "CWR Recorder.ht" that exists within the HyperTerminal Connections folder.



For easy access, you may wish to create a shortcut for the "CWR Recorder" connection and place it on your Windows desktop.

User Notes		
1		



Task 2

## **CREATING A HYPERTERMINAL USB CONNECTION**

The previous task assumed that you would access the recorder via its serial Terminal Port. An alternative method can also be used to access the recorder. It utilizes the USB Device Port which is located on the top panel of the recorder. Like the other access methods, HyperTerminal can be used to control the connection and provide the user interface environment. A USB connection provides one very distinct advantage. It is very fast. You may elect to use this method when capturing large numbers of Event Records to a PC file. The Query command Dump feature is described in Task 24.

## BEFORE YOU START

Your PC must have HyperTerminal installed and ready for use. You should be familiar with the steps necessary to launch your Windows operating system and log on as a user. You should also be familiar with basic Windows operations, such as selecting commands and using the mouse.

This task describes how to establish a high speed USB-based connection between your recorder and PC. To take advantage of this method, your PC will require that specific drivers and related software be installed and running. The installation of this software is outside the scope of this guide. However, the procedure for doing so is fully described in Appendix C of the CWR-24E, CWR-72E, CWR-264XL and VDL User Manuals. A PDF copy of these documents can be downloaded from the following web page. www.micro-aide.com/support/documentation.html

The required PC software is available for downloading from: www.micro-aide.com/support/downloads.html

The required software is titled "USB Drivers". For the remainder of this task it is presumed that the USB Device Port software is installed and running within your PC. A USB type A-B cable will also be required.

## **WHAT TO DO**

We'll begin by creating a new connection specifically for your recording device. We'll then set terminal emulation for the connection. Perform the steps listed in each section in the order given.

## CREATING A NEW USB CONNECTION

1. Use the USB type A-B cable to connect the recorder's USB Device Port to a spare USB port on the PC.



Since the appropriate driver software has already been installed, you can ignore any Windows messages regarding the new USB connection.

- 2. Using your mouse, click in the lower left-hand corner of your desktop in the area labeled "Start". Then click in the area labeled "All Programs".
- 3. Click on the folder labeled "HyperTerminal" to expand it.
- 4. Click the sub-list item labeled "HyperTerminal". After a short delay the following dialog box labeled "Connection Description" will appear.

#### How-To TRAINING GUIDE

New Connection
Enter a name and choose an icon for the connection:
Name:
Icon:
OK Cancel

HyperTerminal-New Connection Dialog Box

 In the edit box labeled "Name:" enter a label that identifies the new connection. As an example, type **Dundee USB**. Click the button labeled "OK". The following dialog box named "Connect To" will appear.

Connect To
Sundee USB
Enter details for the phone number that you want to dial:
Country/region: United States (1)
Enter the area code without the long-distance prefix,
Area code: 626
Phone number:
Connect using: COM17
Configure  Detect Carrier Loss  Use country/region code and area code  Redial on busy
OK Cancel

HyperTerminal–Connect To Dialog Box

6. Click the down arrow at the right edge of the drop-down list box labeled "Connect using:". Select the newly created comm port (e.g., "Com17").

The term "newly created comm port" refers to the port created when the USB driver software was first installed. Successive recording devices will automatically create additional comm ports (e.g., "Com18").

7. Click the button labeled "OK" to accept the new comm port assignment.

A new HyperTerminal connection has been created. It is now necessary to assign the correct emulation for the connection.

## SETTING THE EMULATION

Ĭ

8. After selecting the comm port for the new connection the dialog box named "Com Properties" will be displayed. An example is shown in the following step. Your dialog box will actually be labeled with the comm port number you selected earlier.

Ĩ

сом	17 Properties
Po	rt Settings
	<u>B</u> its per second: 9600 ▼
	Data bits: 8
	Parity: None
	Stop bits: 1
	Elow control: None
	<u>R</u> estore Defaults
	OK Cancel Apply

HyperTerminal-Com Properties Dialog Box9. Click the button labeled "Cancel". A blank HyperTerminal window will appear.

Baud rate and bit coding settings do not apply to USB-based connections.

- 10. Click the "File>Properties" command located in the menu bar at the top of the HyperTerminal window. A dialog box labeled "Dundee USB Properties" will be displayed.
- 11. At the top of the dialog box click the tab labeled "Settings". A dialog box similar to the following will be displayed.

Dundee USB Properties	-
Connect To Settings	
Function, arrow, and ctrl keys act as	
Backspace key sends	
Emulation:	
ANSI   Ierminal Setup  Lolors	
Tel <u>n</u> et terminal ID: ANSI	
Backscroll buffer lines: 500	
Play sound when connecting or disconnecting     Allow remote host initiated file transfers     Egit program upon disconnecting	
Input Translation ASCII Setup	
OK Cancel	

HyperTerminal-Properties Dialog Box (Settings Tab)

- 12. Modify the various settings to match those listed in the previous screen. Make sure that the dropdown list box labeled "Emulation:" is set to "ANSI".
- 13. Double check everything. If all the settings are correct click the button labeled "OK".
- 14. Click the "File>Save" command.

Your PC now has a newly defined comm port connection that is tailored for this specific recorder. To launch the new connection simply click the icon labeled "Dundee USB.ht" that exists within the HyperTerminal Connections folder.

For easy access, you may wish to create a shortcut for the "Dundee USB" connection and place it on your Windows desktop.

## **CREATING ADDITIONAL USB CONNECTIONS**

The serial port comm connection created in Task 1 "Creating a HyperTerminal Serial Connection" on page 1 can be used with any recorder whose Terminal Port is set to operate at the same Baud rate. However, the USB Device Port of every recorder is identified with uniquely coded information. For this reason, when you connect your PC to the USB Device Port of another recorder a new connection must be created. The only difference is that a different comm port will need to be assigned to the new connection. This can be done by simply selecting a new comm port number (e.g., "Com18") in step 6 of the previous procedure. Remember to save the new connection with a different name (e.g., "Central Ave USB").

When creating USB connections for additional recorders it is not necessary to install the USB driver software once again. The drivers only need to be installed once.



Task ว

## **CREATING A HYPERTERMINAL TELNET CONNECTION**

Your recording device may be equipped with an optional Ethernet Port. An Ethernet Port is installed if an RJ-45 jack is located on the top panel of the recorder. Like the USB Device Port, the Ethernet Port provides an alternative, high speed method of accessing the recorder. Unlike the USB Device Port, the PC does not require special drivers to support the Ethernet Port. Ethernet-based connections are referred to as Telnet connections. Telnet connections provide data transparency and are fully supported by HyperTerminal. If the recorder is connected to a LAN, VPN or cell modem the user will be able to remotely access the recorder.

## BEFORE YOU START

Your PC must have HyperTerminal installed and ready for use. You should be familiar with the steps necessary to launch your Windows operating system and log on as a user. You should also be familiar with basic Windows operations, such as selecting commands and using the mouse.

## **WHAT TO DO**

We'll begin by creating a new connection specifically for your recording device. We'll then set terminal emulation for the connection. Perform the steps listed in each section in the order given.

## **CREATING A NEW TELNET CONNECTION**

- 1. Using your mouse, click in the lower left-hand corner of your desktop in the area labeled "Start". Then click in the area labeled "All Programs".
- 2. Click on the folder labeled "HyperTerminal" to expand it.
- 3. Click the sub-list item labeled "HyperTerminal". After a short delay the following dialog box labeled "Connection Description" will appear.

Connection Description
New Connection
Enter a name and choose an icon for the connection:
Name:
Icon:
OK Cancel

HyperTerminal-New Connection Dialog Box

 In the edit box labeled "Name:" enter a label that identifies the new connection. As an example, type **Dundee Telnet**. Click the button labeled "OK". The following dialog box named "Connect To" will appear.

#### How-To TRAINING GUIDE

Connect To
Son Dundee Telest
Fotor details for the phone number that you want to dialy
Circle declars for the phone number that you want to that,
Country/region: United States (1)
Enter the area code without the long-distance prefix,
Area code: 626
Phone number:
Connect using: COM5
Configure
☐ Detect Carrier Loss ✓ Use country/region code and area code ☐ Redial on busy
OK Cancel

HyperTerminal-Connect To Dialog Box

- 5. Click the down arrow at the right edge of the drop-down list box labeled "Connect using:". Select the "TCP/IP (Winsock)" setting.
- 6. The "Connect To" dialog box will change as indicated by the following screen.

Connect To
Version State Stat
Enter details for the host that you want to call:
Host address: 192.168.0.101
,,
Port number: 5000
Coppertusing: TCP/IP (Wiscock)
OK Canad

HyperTerminal-Connect To Dialog Box (Telnet Connection)

The Ethernet settings described in the following two steps must match identically those assigned to the recorder's Ethernet Port. The recorder's Setup > Network command is used to establish these settings. Refer to Task 17 "Configuring the Ethernet Port" on page 49 for additional information.

- 7. In the edit box labeled "Host address:" enter the IP address assigned to the recorder (e.g., "192.168.0.101").
- 8. In the edit box labeled "Port number:" enter the port address assigned to the recorder. Typically this "5000".
- 9. Verify the displayed settings and change them as necessary. If they are correct click the button labeled "OK" to accept the new Telnet assignment. A blank HyperTerminal window will be displayed.

A new HyperTerminal connection has been created. It is now necessary to assign the correct emulation for the connection.

## SETTING THE EMULATION

- 10. Click the "File>Properties" command located in the menu bar at the top of the HyperTerminal window. A dialog box labeled "Dundee Telnet Properties" will be displayed.
- 11. At the top of the dialog box click the tab labeled "Settings". A dialog box similar to the following will be displayed.

Dundee Telnet Properties	?	×
Connect To Settings		
Function, arrow, and ctrl keys act as		
<ul> <li>Terminal keys</li> <li>Windows keys</li> </ul>		
Backspace key sends	_	
Ctrl+H C Del C Ctrl+H, Space, Ctrl+	Η	
Emulation:		
ANSI	\$	
Telnet terminal ID: ANSI		
Backscroll buffer lines: 500	•	
Play sound when connecting or disconnecting     Allow remote host initiated file transfers     Exit program upon disconnecting		
Input Translation ASCII Setup	)	
ОК	Ca	ncel

HyperTerminal–Properties Dialog Box (Settings Tab)

- 12. Modify the various settings to match those listed in the previous screen. Make sure that the dropdown list box labeled "Emulation:" is set to "ANSI".
- 13. Double check everything. If all the settings are correct click the button labeled "OK".
- 14. Click the "File>Save" command.

Your PC now has a newly defined Telnet connection that is tailored for this specific recorder. To launch the new connection simply click the icon labeled "Dundee Telnet.ht" that exists within the HyperTerminal Connections folder.



For easy access, you may wish to create a shortcut for the "Dundee Telnet" connection and place it on your Windows desktop.

### **CREATING ADDITIONAL TELNET CONNECTIONS**

The serial port comm connection created in Task 1 "Creating a HyperTerminal Serial Connection" on page 1 can be used with any recorder whose Terminal Port is set to operate at the same Baud rate. However, the Ethernet Port of every recorder is associated with a unique IP address. For this reason, when you attempt to connect your PC to the Ethernet Port of another recorder a new connection must be created. The only difference is that a different IP address will need to be assigned to the new connection. This can be done by simply assigning the correct "Host address:" (e.g., "192.168.0.102") in step 7 of the previous procedure. Remember to save the new connection with a different name (e.g., "Central Ave Telnet").

User No	DTES
3	



Гask л

## CREATING A HYPERTERMINAL MODEM CONNECTION

Your recording device can be equipped with an optional internal 33,600 Baud modem. Like the Terminal Port, it can be used to access your recorder via a PC equipped with HyperTerminal and a modem. Unlike the Terminal Port, the modem allows you to establish a remote connection to various recorders.

## BEFORE YOU START

Your PC must have HyperTerminal installed and ready for use. You should be familiar with the steps necessary to launch your Windows operating system and log on as a user. You should also be familiar with basic Windows operations, such as selecting commands and using the mouse. A further requirement is that the PC must have access to an internal or external modem.

## **W**нат то **D**о

We'll begin by creating a modem-based connection for a specific recorder. The recorder will be identified by its unique telephone number. Perform the steps listed in each section in the order given.



Since each recorder is accessible via a unique phone number, the steps detailed in this task must be repeated for each recorder of interest to the user.

## CREATING A NEW MODEM CONNECTION

- 1. Using your mouse, click in the lower left-hand corner of your desktop in the area labeled "Start". Then click in the area labeled "All Programs".
- 2. Click on the folder labeled "HyperTerminal" to expand it.
- 3. Click the sub-list item labeled "HyperTerminal". After a short delay the following dialog box labeled "Connection Description" will appear.

Connection Description
New Connection
Enter a name and choose an icon for the connection:
Name:
Icon:
OK Cancel

HyperTerminal-New Connection Dialog Box

 In the edit box labeled "Name:" enter a label that identifies the new connection. As an example, type **Dundee Recorder**. Click the button labeled "OK". The following dialog box named "Connect To" will appear.

#### How-To TRAINING GUIDE

Connect To
Dundee Recorder
Enter details for the phone number that you want to dial:
Country/region: United States (1)
Enter the area code without the long-distance prefix.
Area code: 626
Phone number:
Connect using: USB Modem 🗨
Configure
<ul> <li>✓ Detect Carrier Loss</li> <li>✓ Use country/region code and area code</li> <li>✓ Redial on busy</li> </ul>
OK Cancel

HyperTerminal-Connect To Dialog Box

- 5. Click the down arrow at the right edge of the drop-down list box labeled "Connect using:". Select the modem (e.g., "USB Modem"). Enable the check boxes labeled "Detect Carrier Loss" and "Use country/region code and area code" settings as shown in the previous screen.
- 6. In the edit box labeled "Area code:", enter the area code portion of the phone number associated with the telephone line connected to the recorder. In the edit box labeled "Phone number:", enter the remaining seven digits of the phone number.
- 7. Click the button labeled "Configure...". A dialog box similar to the following will be displayed.

USB Modem Connection	Preferences	? ×
General Advanced		
Call preferences		
🔲 Operator assiste	d (manual) dial	
Disconnect a ca	all if idle for more than	mins
Cancel the call	if not connected within 60	) secs
Data Connection Pre	ferences	
Port speed:	115200 👻	
Data Protocol:	Forced EC 🔹	
Compression:	Enabled 💌	
Flow control:	Hardware 🔻	
	OK	Cancel

HyperTerminal-Modem Preferences Dialog Box

- As shown in the previous screen, in the drop-down list box labeled "Data Protocol:" select the "Forced EC" setting. For the drop-down list box labeled "Compression:" select the "Enabled" setting. For the drop-down list box labeled "Flow control:" select the "Hardware" setting. Finally, click the button labeled "OK".
- 9. The "Connect To" dialog box depicted in step 4 will be displayed. Click the button labeled "OK". The following dialog box will be displayed.



HyperTerminal-Connect Dialog Box

10. Verify the displayed settings and change them as necessary. If they are correct click the button labeled "Cancel". A blank HyperTerminal window will be displayed.

### **Assigning the Emulation Settings**

- 11. Click the "File>Properties" command located in the menu bar at the top of the HyperTerminal window. A dialog box named "Dundee Recorder Properties" will be displayed.
- 12. At the top of the dialog box click the tab labeled "Settings". A dialog box similar to the following will be displayed.

Dundee Recorder Properties
Connect To Settings
Function, arrow, and ctrl keys act as
Terminal keys O Windows keys
Backspace key sends
Emulation:
ANSI   Terminal Setup  Colors
Telnet terminal ID: ANSI
Backscroll buffer lines: 500
Play sound when connecting or disconnecting     Allow remote host initiated file transfers     Exit program upon disconnecting
Input Translation ASCII Setup
OK Cancel

HyperTerminal-Properties Dialog Box (Settings Tab)

- 13. Modify the various settings to match those listed in the previous screen. Make sure that the dropdown list box labeled "Emulation:" is set to "ANSI".
- 14. Double check everything. If all the settings are correct click the button labeled "OK".
- 15. Click the "File>Save" command.

Your PC now has a newly defined modem connection that is tailored for your recorder. To launch the new connection simply click the icon labeled "Dundee Recorder.ht" that exists within the HyperTerminal Connections folder.



For easy access, you may wish to create a shortcut for the "Dundee Recorder" connection and place it on your Windows desktop.

User Notes			
4			



Task 5

## GETTING TO THE MAIN MENU

The first four Tasks of this Training Guide describe how to create HyperTerminal-based methods of accessing a MICRO-AIDE recording device. Serial comm port, USB Device Port, Ethernet Port and modem connections are described. Regardless of the access method employed, all MICRO-AIDE recorders utilize two levels of access security. Before you are allowed to interact with the recorder you must enter a valid password. Which password is entered determines the level of access you are granted.

## BEFORE YOU START

This task assumes that you have previously created a HyperTerminal connection as described in Task 1 through Task 4. It is further assumed that you intend to log onto your recorder using one of these connections. In the remaining sections of this Task, directions are included for each of the four connection methods. Follow the steps applicable to your requirement.

Before you start you'll need to apply power to your recorder and PC. Wait until the recorder has completed its initialization sequence. This may take a minute or so if the Event Record memory is full. You can proceed after the date and time appear at the LCD.

**Serial Connection**–Connect the recorder's Terminal Port to the serial comm port of the PC. Use the MICRO-AIDE provided RS-232 cable that was included with the recorder shipment.

Do not attempt to use a null modem cable.

**USB Connection**-Connect the recorder's USB Device Port to a spare USB port of the PC. Use a USB Type A-B cable.

**Ethernet Connection**–Connect the recorder's Ethernet Port to the Ethernet port of the PC (direct connection) or the spare port of an Ethernet Switch (LAN connection). Use a CAT-5 cable.

**Modem Connection**–Connect the recorder's RJ-11 jack labeled "Phone Line" to an available telephone line. Use a standard telephone cord for this purpose. Do the same for the PC's modem. You may want to verify that dial tone is available on both lines.

## **WHAT TO DO**

### LAUNCH THE CONNECTION

After you have logged onto your PC, launch the HyperTerminal connection that you will be using. Perform the steps listed in the applicable section.

Serial Connection-The request for password message should be displayed. A typical password request is shown in the sample data entitled "Password Request" on page 18. If the request is not displayed, click the HyperTerminal command labeled "Call>Call". Go to the procedure entitled "Enter the Password" on page 18.

**USB Connection**–Verify that HyperTerminal is using the correct comm port (e.g., "Comm17" as described in Task 2). Remember that each of your recording devices will use a unique comm port. Press the **Enter** key. All or part of the request for password message will be displayed. A typical password

request is shown in the sample data entitled "Password Request". If the request is not displayed, click the HyperTerminal command "Call>Call". Go to the procedure entitled "Enter the Password".

**Ethernet Connection**–Verify that HyperTerminal is using the correct "Host address:" and "Port number:" assignments (e.g., "192.168.0.101" and "5000" as described in Task 3). Remember that each of your recording devices will use a unique IP address. Press the **Enter** key. All or part of the request for password message will be displayed. A typical password request is shown in the sample data entitled "Password Request". If the request is not displayed, or an unable to connect message is displayed, click the HyperTerminal command "Call>Call". Go to the procedure entitled "Enter the Password".

**Modem Connection**–Shortly after the HyperTerminal connection is launched a dialog box similar to the following will be displayed.

Connect ?		
Sundee Recorder		
Phone number: 1 312 555-1212 Modify		
Your location: My Location   Dialing Properties		
Calling card: None (Direct Dial)		
Dial Cancel		

HyperTerminal–Connect Dialog Box

Click the button labeled "Dial". The PC's modern will attempt to dial-up and connect with the recorder's modern. The request for password message will be displayed after the connection is established. A typical password request is shown in the sample data entitled "Password Request".

#### **ENTER THE PASSWORD**

A typical request for password message is shown in the following sample data.

Mode1	CWR-24E Event Recorder. Ver 1.08 (C) 2011 MICRO-AIDE INC.
*****	NOT SET ****
Event	storage capacity: 307123
Enter	password:

#### Password Request

Enter the Administrative or Restricted Password. Remember that passwords are case-sensitive. Complete the entry by pressing the **Enter** key. You should now be logged onto your recorder. A Main Menu similar to the following will be displayed.

MICRO-AIDE CWR-24E Event Recorder	
S Setup L Live Status Q Query Events V View Events M Measure Flash Rate T Transfer Files D Diagnostics X Log Off	

Main Menu

Congratulations. Using your previously defined HyperTerminal connection, you can now exercise the capabilities of your recorder. Remember, that the Main Menu is always your initial launching point.

5

## **R**ELATED **F**EATURES

## **D**EFAULT **P**ASSWORDS

Your recorder utilizes two levels of password security that are applicable to each of its user ports. The Administrative Password allows you to access all recorder features and functions. It allows you to alter the Setup Database of the recorder. The Restricted Password allows you unlimited access to viewing and retrieval of data from the recorder. However, it does not allow you to alter any portion of the Setup Database.



The factory default Administrative Password is **PASSWORD**. The factory default Restricted Password is **LOOKWORD**.

## NAVIGATING AND SELECTING COMMANDS

The emulation setting of your HyperTerminal connection is set to "ANSI". This setting allows you to highlight a specific recorder command or field by simply pressing the up and down arrow keys at the keyboard of your PC. After the highlight is positioned properly, press the **Enter** key to select the command.

## LOGGING OFF

When you have completed your session with the recorder you should get in the habit of logging off. From the Main Menu you can press the **X** key at your keyboard. Highlight the Yes option and then press the **Enter** key to log off. Alternatively, you can execute the HyperTerminal command labeled "Call>Disconnect". In either case, the next user will have to enter a valid password to access the recorder.

Harp Notes			
USER NOTES			
-			
5			



Task

## SETTING AND SYNCHRONIZING THE REAL-TIME CLOCK

The current generation of MICRO-AIDE recording devices include a real-time clock (RTC) circuit that is accurate to 3ppm (i.e., .0003%, ±.26 seconds per day, ±8 seconds per month). Nevertheless, if left unattended this error can accumulate into a significant amount. However, this potential inconvenience is avoided by automatically synchronizing the RTC. To synchronize the RTC, your recorder will require that the GPS Receiver or Ethernet Port option be installed. Otherwise the RTC will have to be set manually.

i

The Time / Date and Clock Sync Mode settings can only be altered in an Administrative Access session.

## BEFORE YOU START

This task assumes you have already connected your recorder to a PC running HyperTerminal and you have logged onto the recorder with the Administrative Password. The first five tasks of this guide explain how to prepare your PC and the log on procedure. The Main Menu should be displayed.

## **WHAT TO DO**

### MANUALLY SET THE TIME AND/OR DATE

From the Main Menu select the Setup>Time/Date command. A screen similar to the following will be displayed.



Time / Date Command

To change the current time or date move the highlight to any of the fields and enter a new value. Leading zeros are not required. Press the **Enter** key or move the highlight to accept the new value. The day of week will be indicated automatically by the recorder. When the time and date are correct press the **Esc** key. Select the Yes option to make the change. Press the **Esc** key to return to the Main Menu.

Your recorder uses a military-style clock. Accordingly, 12:45:23 AM is reported as 00:45:23 and 11:58:06 PM is reported as 23:58:06.

## SELECTING THE TIME ZONE AND DAYLIGHT SAVING TIME SETTINGS

MICRO-AIDE recorders can be set to one of seven different time zones used throughout North America. The CWR-264XL includes an eighth time zone which is UTC-0 (previously known as GMT). A separate setting allows Daylight Saving Time (DST) to be enabled or disabled. If enabled, the one-hour clock shift will occur automatically.



The Time Zone setting only has significance if the Clock Sync Mode is assigned as GPS or SNTP.

Both parameters are included as fields in the Setup>System Parameters command. A sample screen is shown in the following. The procedure for changing both settings is described below.



#### System Parameters Command

Time Zone-Press the Spacebar one or more times until the required setting appears.

**Daylight Saving Time**-Press the **Spacebar** to enable or disable the DST adjustment. If enabled, the clock will be changed by one hour on the second Sunday in March and the first Sunday in November.

#### SYNCHRONIZING THE CLOCK

Your recorder's clock can be synchronized using either of two methods. An acquired GPS signal can be used to precisely synchronize the RTC. This method requires the recorder be equipped with the GPS Receiver option. The RTC can also be synchronized using the SNTP-Multicast method. This method requires the Ethernet Port option be installed. Additionally, the recorder must have Ethernet access to a time server enabled for SNTP-Multicast operation. Two additional settings within the Setup > System Parameters command control the synchronization features. Both settings are described in the following.

**Clock Sync Mode**-Press the **Spacebar** key to select GPS or SNTP. The GPS setting will sync the clock once an hour. For SNTP, the sync will occur as determined by the time server's multicast schedule.

**Clock Sync Input**–This setting must always be left as ---. This setting leaves the Clock Sync Input unassigned with the feature disabled. The --- setting can be restored by pressing the **0** and then **Enter** keys.



The Clock Sync Input parameter must never be altered from the recommended --- setting.

After completing the assignments, press the **Esc** key twice to exit and return to the Main Menu.

## **R**ELATED **F**EATURES

#### **CLOCK SYNC RECORDS**

An Event Record is written to memory whenever the recorder's RTC is adjusted by the GPS Receiver or SNTP time server. Refer to the screen entitled "End of Sample Report" on page 72. The second Event Record listed is a GPS clock sync record.

### SNTP-UNICAST (CWR-264E AND CWR-264XL ONLY)

The CWR-264E and CWR-264XL Event Recorders provide an additional SNTP-based synchronization method. Using the SNTP-Unicast protocol the recorder can once per day acquire time sync data from an Ethernet-accessible time server. The sync occurs daily at five minutes after midnight (i.e., 00:05:00). In order to enable this feature the SNTP Server parameter must be set to a valid time server IP address. A setting of 0.0.0.0 disables this feature in favor of the SNTP-Multicast method. The SNTP Server parameter is also included as a field in the Setup>System Parameters command.


#### Assigning Passwords and the Passcode

Your recording device can be accessed via its serial Terminal Port, USB Device Port or optional Ethernet Port or modem. The front panel keypad and LCD provide an additional point of access. Access to the recorder's user interface is always challenged by either a Password or Passcode. This security measure applies to all points of access, without exception.



The Password and Passcode settings can only be altered in an Administrative Access session.

# BEFORE YOU START

This task assumes you have already connected your recorder to a PC running HyperTerminal and you have logged onto the recorder with the Administrative Password. The first four tasks of this guide explain how to prepare your PC and the log on procedure. The Main Menu should be displayed.

## **WHAT TO DO**

#### USING A PC AND HYPERTERMINAL

From the Main Menu select the Setup>System Parameters command. A screen similar to the following will be displayed.

System Parameters					
Unit Name ***** NOT SET ***** Terminal Port Baud Rat Administrative Password Passcode Ring Count Primary Dial Number Secondary Dial Number Clock Sync Mode Clock Sync Input Time Zone Daylight Saving Time High Temp Limit Low Temp Limit	e 38400 d PASSWORD LOOKWORD 12345678 2 GPS  PST (UTC-8) Enabled 257 Degrees F -67 Degrees F				

System Parameters Command

The Passwords and Passcode are fully described in the following sections.

Administrative Password-The Administrative Password can be any combination of eight or fewer alphanumeric characters. The Administrative Password allows the user unrestricted control of the recorder. In an Administrative Access session all commands and features are accessible and the Setup Database can be altered.

To change the Administrative Password move the highlight to the appropriate field and type a new Password. To save the new Password either reposition the highlight or press the **Enter** key.

**Restricted Password**-The Restricted Password can be any combination of eight or fewer alphanumeric characters. The Restricted Password allows the user unlimited access to Event Record data and viewing of the Setup Database. However, it does not permit alteration of any Setup Database parameters. Additionally, the time and date cannot be changed.

To change the Restricted Password move the highlight to the appropriate field and type a new Password. To save the new Password either reposition the highlight or press the **Enter** key.



The factory default Administrative and Restricted Passwords are **PASSWORD** and **LOOKWORD**, respectively.

**Passcode**-The Passcode can only be entered from the front panel keypad. It consists of eight or fewer numeric values. The Passcode is requested immediately after pressing the *Setup* pushbutton on the front panel keypad.

To change the Passcode move the highlight to the appropriate field and type a new series of digits. To save the new Passcode either reposition the highlight or press the **Enter** key.



The factory default Passcode is 12345678.

After completing the assignments, press the **Esc** key twice to exit and return to the Main Menu.

#### **R**ELATED **F**EATURES

#### IN CASE THE ADMINISTRATIVE PASSWORD IS LOST

Without a valid Administrative Password the current Password cannot be viewed or changed. This presents a serious problem if the Administrative Password is lost. In the unlikely event that this occurs, an appropriate individual with supervisory or managerial authority should contact MICRO-AIDE immediately.

#### MICRO-AIDE CORPORATION

685 Arrow Grand Circle Covina, CA 91722 Tel: 626-915-5502 Fax: 626-331-9484 E-mail: support@micro-aide.com



Task o

# ASSIGNING THE UNIT NAME

The Unit Name serves a dual purpose. It can be used to distinguish different recorders. Additionally, it can be used to identify the site where the recorder is located. Including a DOT tag or milepost designation can be quite useful. The Unit Name is included at the top of every report.



The Unit Name setting can only be altered in an Administrative Access session.

# RULES FOR CREATING A PROPER UNIT NAME

The recorder's assigned Unit Name is a versatile piece of information. The full Unit Name is printed at the top of various reports. The first twenty characters of the Unit Name appear as the fourth line of text on the LCD while it is in Idle Mode. Refer to the LCD sample data entitled "LCD During Idle Mode". Additionally, the first twenty characters of the Unit Name are used to name the data folder created when saving Event Records to the USB flash drive. Refer to the Windows Explorer® screen entitled "Data Folder Saved to USB Flash Drive" on page 26.

Clearly, the first twenty characters of the Unit Name must be assigned carefully. Since these characters are used to form a folder name they must adhere to strict rules imposed by all Windows operating systems.



Various characters must not appear anywhere within the first twenty characters of the Unit Name. The eleven prohibited characters are  $/ \ \%$  \* : | " < >.



Additionally, a **Space** character must not appear as either the first or twentieth character in the Unit Name. For this reason it is best to use an underscore (i.e., \_) in place of the **Space** character.

TIME	DATE
16:35:52*	07-04-12
CWR24E Ever	ntRecorder
DIST_SUBDR_	_XING-NAME

#### LCD During Idle Mode

In the following sample screen, the folder name of "DIST\_SUBDR\_XING-NAME" is limited to twenty characters and comprises three placeholders. "DIST" and "SUBDR" are district and subdistrict designations, respectively. "XING-NAME" completes the twenty characters and refers to a crossing designation. The entire Unit Name can include a total of 80 characters. For the example sited herein, the remaining characters could include a milepost number and DOT designation.



#### How-To TRAINING GUIDE

Computer	•	Removable Disk (F:) 🔸	• <del>4</del> 9	Search R	emovab.	× ,0
File Edit View Tools H Organize <del>v</del> 😭 Open	Hel	) Share with <del>▼</del> E-mail Burn New folder				0
A HP (C:)	*	Name	Date modif	ïed	Туре	
Removable Disk (F:)		UIST_SUBDR_XING-NAME	10/4/20117	1:06 AM	File f	older
1 item selected	-	•				•

Data Folder Saved to USB Flash Drive

### BEFORE YOU START

This task assumes you have already connected your recorder to a PC running HyperTerminal and you have logged onto the recorder with the Administrative Password. The first five tasks of this guide explain how to prepare your PC and the log on procedure. The Main Menu should be displayed.

# **WHAT TO DO**

From the Main Menu select the Setup>System Parameters command. A screen similar to the following will be displayed.

	System P	arameters
**** NOT SET	Unit Name ***** Terminal Port Baud Rate Administrative Password Restricted Password Passcode Ring Count Primary Dial Number Secondary Dial Number Clock Sync Mode Clock Sync Input Time Zone Daylight Saving Time High Temp Limit Low Temp Limit	38400 PASSWORD LOOKWORD 12345678 2 GPS  PST (UTC-8) Enabled 257 Degrees F -67 Degrees F
	Record Flash Details	Disabled

System Parameters Command

- 1. Move the highlight in the Unit Name field. Press the **Spacebar** once to erase the existing name (e.g., \*\*\*\*\* NOT SET \*\*\*\*\*).
- 2. Type the new Unit Name as required, but subject to the limitations described in the section entitled "Rules for Creating a Proper Unit Name" on page 25.
- 3. To accept the new name either press the Enter key or move the highlight.
- 4. Press the **Esc** key twice to exit and return to the Main Menu.



# ASSIGNING A DIFFERENT TERMINAL PORT BAUD RATE

Your recorder is equipped with at least one Terminal Port. The CWR-264 and CWR-272 series of recorders include two Terminal Ports. The Terminal Port(s) provide for serial communications over an RS-232 electrical interface. The Baud rate used by the Terminal Port(s) can be set to one of ten different values.



The Terminal Port Baud Rate setting can only be altered in an Administrative Access session.

# BEFORE YOU START

This task assumes you have already connected your recorder to a PC running HyperTerminal and you have logged onto the recorder with the Administrative Password. The first five tasks of this guide explain how to prepare your PC and the log on procedure. The Main Menu should be displayed.

# **WHAT TO DO**

#### USING A PC AND HYPERTERMINAL

From the Main Menu select the Setup>System Parameters command. A screen similar to the following will be displayed.

Í	System Parameters
	Unit Name ***** NOT SET ***** Terminal Port Baud Rate 38400 Administrative Password PASSWORD Restricted Password LOOKWORD Passcode 12345678 Ring Count 2 Primary Dial Number Secondary Dial Number Clock Sync Mode GPS Clock Sync Mode GPS Clock Sync Input Time Zone PST (UTC-8) Daylight Saving Time Enabled High Temp Limit 257 Degrees F Low Temp Limit -67 Degrees F Record Flash Details Disabled

System Parameters Command

- 1. Move the highlight to the Terminal Port Baud Rate field.
- 2. Press the **Spacebar** repeatedly until the required Baud rate is displayed. The rate may be set to any of ten values in the range from 300 to 115,200.
- 3. Press the Esc key twice to exit and return to the Main Menu. The following message will be displayed.

Change	baud rate r	now, then
Press	any key to	continue

4. The Baud rate of your HyperTerminal connection must now be changed to accommodate the new setting. However, HyperTerminal will not allow you to change the Baud rate while a connection is ac-

tive. Disconnect by clicking the command named "Call>Disconnect" located in the HyperTerminal menu bar. You can no longer communicate with the recorder.

- 5. Change the Baud rate of your HyperTerminal connection in accordance with the procedure described in "Setting the Baud Rate, Bit Coding and Emulation" on page 2. The new setting must match the newly assigned Terminal Port Baud rate.
- 6. Click the HyperTerminal command named "Call>Call". After a short delay a new connection at the new Baud rate will be established. The password challenge will be displayed.

If your recorder is equipped with more than one Terminal Port, they will be identified as Terminal Port 1 and Terminal Port 2. The Setup>System Parameters command will include an additional Baud rate selection field for the second port. The procedure for assigning the second Baud rate is the same as that described in this Task.



# MODEM RING COUNT

Your recorder may be equipped with an optional 33,600 Baud internal modem. The Ring Count parameter determines the number of rings that must occur before the modem answers. When using a shared phone line you may wish to set the answer delay to several rings in order to let on-site personnel answer voice calls before the modem answers.



The Ring Count setting can only be altered in an Administrative Access session.

# BEFORE YOU START

This task assumes you have already connected your recorder to a PC running HyperTerminal and you have logged onto the recorder with the Administrative Password. The first five tasks of this guide explain how to prepare your PC and the log on procedure. The Main Menu should be displayed.

# **WHAT TO DO**

#### USING A PC AND HYPERTERMINAL

From the Main Menu select the Setup>Time/Date command. A screen similar to the following will be displayed.

System Parameters				
Unit Name Unit Name ***** NOT SET ***** Terminal Port Baud Rate Administrative Password Restricted Password Passcode Ring Count Primary Dial Number Secondary Dial Number Clock Sync Mode Clock Sync Input Time Zone Daylight Saving Time High_Temp Limit	38400 PASSWORD LOOKWORD 12345678 2 GPS  PST (UTC-8) Enabled 257 Degrees F			
Low Temp Limit Record Flash Details	-67 Degrees F Disabled			

System Parameters Command

If the message "Modem is NOT installed" appears at the bottom of the Setup>Time/Date command then this procedure can be ignored. The absence of the message indicates the modem is available.

- 1. Move the highlight to the Ring Count field.
- 2. Enter a value ranging from 0 to 99. A leading zero is not required.



A Ring Count value of 0 will prevent the modem from answering an incoming call. Use this value to disable the auto-answer feature of the modem.

- 3. To accept the new setting either press the Enter key or move the highlight.
- 4. Press the **Esc** key twice to exit and return to the Main Menu.



## Assigning Temperature Limit Values

A temperature sensor is included inside every MICRO-AIDE recording device. The sensor readings are reported and compared to user-defined Limit Values. The High and Low Temperature Limit Values establish a range of acceptable and unacceptable operation. Event Records are saved to memory if these limits are exceeded.



The Temperature Limit Values can only be altered in an Administrative Access session.

# BEFORE YOU START

This task assumes you have already connected your recorder to a PC running HyperTerminal and you have logged onto the recorder with the Administrative Password. The first five tasks of this guide explain how to prepare your PC and the log on procedure. The Main Menu should be displayed.

## **WHAT TO DO**

#### USING A PC AND HYPERTERMINAL

From the Main Menu select the Setup>System Parameters command. A screen similar to the following will be displayed.

System Parameters				
Unit Name ***** NOT SET ***** Terminal Port Baud Rate Administrative Password Restricted Password Passcode Ring Count Primary Dial Number Secondary Dial Number Clock Sync Mode Clock Sync Input Time Zone Daylight Saving Time High Temp Limit Low Temp Limit Record Flash Details	38400 PASSWORD LOOKWORD 12345678 2 GPS  PST (UTC-8) Enabled 257 Degrees F -67 Degrees F Disabled			

System Parameters Command

Temperature Limit Values and temperature readings are always reported in degrees Fahrenheit.

- 1. Move the highlight to the High Temp Limit field.
- 2. Enter a value ranging from -67 to 257. Leading zeros are not required.
- 3. Move the highlight to the Low Temp Limit field.
- 4. Enter a value ranging from -67 to 257. Leading zeros are not required.

- 5. To accept the new setting either press the Enter key or move the highlight.
- 6. Press the **Esc** key twice to exit and return to the Main Menu.

#### **R**ELATED **F**EATURES

#### **TEMPERATURE REPORTING**

The temperature inside the recorder is frequently listed in the headers of the Query and Live Status reports. The Diagnostics/Temperature command can always be used to view the current temperature.



The internal temperature should never exceed 180°F. The internal temperature of the recorder is typically 10 to 15°F greater than the external ambient temperature.

#### SYSTEM EVENTS

Anytime the internal temperature crosses an assigned Temperature Limit Value a System Event Record is logged to memory. This behavior is described in the following.

**Temperature Exceeds High Limit Value** – An On Event Record is saved to memory when the temperature exceeds the High Limit Value. System Input S2 identifies the record.

**Temperature Drops Below High Limit Value**-An Off Event Record is saved to memory when the temperature drops below the High Limit Value. System Input S2 identifies the record.

**Temperature Drops Below Low Limit Value**-An On Event Record is saved to memory when the temperature drops below the Low Limit Value. System Input S3 identifies the record.

**Temperature Exceeds Low Limit Value** – An Off Event Record is saved to memory when the temperature exceeds the Low Limit Value. System Input S3 identifies the record.

Notable aspects of your recorder's operation are checked and saved to memory by creating System Event Records. System Event Records are used to log extreme temperatures, power cycles and synchronizing of the real-time clock. Each MICRO-AIDE recording device incorporates a slightly different set of System Inputs that in turn are used to identify System Events. Table 2 lists six System Inputs that are common to the CWR-24E, CWR-72E, CWR-264XL and VDLs.

Input Number	Input Name	Identifier	Event Name Pair
S1	System Power	Power	ON/OFF
\$2	High Temperature	HighTemp	ON/OFF
\$3	Low Temperature	LowTemp	ON/OFF
S4	Sntp Clock Sync	SntpSync	OFF/OFF
S5	GPS 5 Sec Correction	GPS 5Sec	OFF/OFF
S6	GPS Clock Record	GPS Rec	OFF/OFF

Table 2: System Event Records



# CREATING A SET OF EVENT NAME PAIRS

An Event Recorder is only as useful as its ability to provide record data that is accurate and meaningful to its user. Your recording device includes several features that, when properly used, can make Event Records easy to read and understand. Event Names are key among these features.



Event Names can only be assigned in an Administrative Access session.

#### **BACKGROUND** INFORMATION

#### THE PURPOSE OF EVENT NAMES

As can be seen in Figure 1, Event Records always include an Input Name and Identifier (which are the subject of Task 13 "Assigning Input Names, Identifiers and Event Name Pairs" on page 37) and an Event Name.



Figure 1: Typical Event Record-No Details Format

The concept of Event Names is illustrated in Figure 2. The lamp circuit is controlled by a simple relay circuit. The voltage applied to the lamp is being monitored by a Digital Input in the recorder. The lamp can assume either of two states. It is either on or off. An Event Record associated with the lamp circuit will include an Input Name and Identifier to distinguish the input. However, it takes an Event Name to properly identify the state (i.e., on or off) of the lamp circuit. It follows that Event Names will always occur in pairs. One name is used to label an On Event. Its counterpart is used to label an Off Event.



Figure 2: Event Names as They Apply to a Lamp Circuit

An On Event occurs whenever voltage is applied to a Digital Input or an Analog Input transitions into its unacceptable range of operation. Conversely, an Off Event occurs whenever voltage is removed from a Digital Input or an Analog Input transitions back into its acceptable range of operation.

Finally, it should be stressed that Event Names such as On and Off, while helpful, lack clarity. Event Names such as WARN ON, WARN OFF, GATES UP, NOT UP, LITE ON and LITE OFF describe more precisely what the circuit state was when the event occurred.

#### SHARING EVENT NAME PAIRS

Your recorder allows up to twenty Event Name Pairs to be created. However, and by way of example only, a CWR-264XL is equipped with 264 physical inputs. This implies that the twenty Event Name Pairs form a pool that can be shared over the entire range of recorder inputs. Figure 3 illustrates this shared behavior in the case of a CWR-72E which includes 72 physical inputs.



Figure 3: Event Name Pairs Shared Among Inputs

There is no need to include a unique Event Name Pair for every Digital Input. Pairs like WARN OFF/WARN ON and STIK UP/STIK DWN can be used effectively among several Digital Inputs. The same applies to Analog Inputs monitoring battery voltages.

# BEFORE YOU START

This task assumes you have already connected your recorder to a PC running HyperTerminal and you have logged onto the recorder with the Administrative Password. The first five tasks of this guide explain how to prepare your PC and the log on procedure. The Main Menu should be displayed.

#### **WHAT TO DO**

From the Main Menu select the Setup>Event Names command. A screen similar to the following will be displayed. The following sample data corresponds to the Event Names illustrated in Figure 3 on page 34.

	E L. Marris	
	Event Name	es
Number	ON Name	OFF Name
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18	WARN OFF WARN ON FLASHON GATES UP GATE DWN PWR OFF BATT LOW LAMPFAIL TK UP STIK UP	WARN ON WARN OFF FLASHOFF NOT UP NOT DWN PWR ON BATT OK LAMPOFF TK DWN STIK DWN
19 20	Violate	Nominal

#### Event Names Command

An Event Name can be any combination of alphanumeric characters not exceeding eight characters in total length. To create a new Event Name, position the highlight and start typing. Move the highlight or press the **Enter** key to save each new name.

After all of the Event Names have been created, press the **Esc** key twice to exit and return to the Main Menu.

#### **R**ELATED **F**EATURES

#### ASSIGNING EVENT NAME PAIRS TO INPUTS

This task has described why it is important to use and how to create effective Event Name Pairs. However, assigning Event Name Pairs to specific inputs is performed using another command. This procedure is described in Task 13 "Assigning Input Names, Identifiers and Event Name Pairs" on page 37.

USER NOTES					
_					
12					



# Assigning Input Names, Identifiers and Event Name Pairs

Your recording device may be equipped with only twenty Digital and four Analog Inputs (CWR-24E) or as many as 4096 Digital and 128 Analog Inputs (CWR-264XC). Each of these inputs can be labeled with a distinctive and informative Input Name and Identifier. In tandem these labels (sometimes referred to as mnemonics) are useful in quickly determining a relay's identity within an Event Record report. Event Names Pairs can be used to add further clarity to Event Records.

Input Names, Identifiers and Event Name Pairs can only be assigned in an Administrative Access session.

# BEFORE YOU START

This task assumes you have already connected your recorder to a PC running HyperTerminal and you have logged onto the recorder with the Administrative Password. The first five tasks of this guide explain how to prepare your PC and the log on procedure. The Main Menu should be displayed.

#### **WHAT TO DO**

From the Main Menu select the Setup>Input Names/Identifiers command. The following sample screen shows a set of Input Name, Identifier and Event Name Pair assignments for a specific crossing location.

In Input Name	ut Names/Identifiers ID OnEvent/OffEvent Event Pair	
DO1 W ADJACENT XING-1 DO2 WEST WRAP-1T DO3 W CONST WARNING-1 DO4 ISLAND CIRCUIT-1T DO5 E CONST WARNING-1 DO6 EAST WRAP-1T DO7 E ADJACENT XING-1 D08 DIRECTIONAL STICK D09 HOLDDOWN CIRCUIT- D10 W ADJACENT XING-2 D11 WEST WRAP-2T D12 W CONST WARNING-2 D13 ISLAND CIRCUIT-2T D14 E CONST WARNING-2 D15 EAST WRAP-2T D16 E ADJACENT XING-2 D17 DIRECTIONAL STICK D18 HOLDDOWN CIRCUIT-	ID Onevent/offevent event part   WAX-1T TK UP/TK DWN   WWRAP-1T TK UP/TK DWN 9   WCWTD-1T TK UP/TK DWN 9   ISLD-1T TK UP/TK DWN 9   ECWTD-1T TK UP/TK DWN 9   ECWTD-1T TK UP/TK DWN 9   EAX-1T TK UP/TK DWN 9   IT DSR-1T STIK UP/TK DWN 9   IT DSR-1T STIK UP/TK DWN 9   WAX-2T TK UP/TK DWN 9   WCWTD-2T TK UP/TK DWN 9   ECWTD-2T TK UP/TK DWN 9   EWAP-2T TK UP	
D19 GC&XR-F D20 FLASH RATE 1 [F1]=Next Page [F2]=Prev	GC&XR-F WARN OFF/WARN ON 1 FLASH 1 FLASHON/FLASHOFF 2 age	

#### Input Names / Identifiers Command

The Input Name for Digital Input D1 will be initially highlighted. The highlight can be moved to any field by simply pressing the appropriate arrow key at the keyboard. As described in the last line of text, press the **F1** or **F2** function keys to view and/or edit a different group of inputs. Analog Inputs follow Digital Inputs. Virtual Inputs and Timer Inputs follow Analog Inputs.

Figure 4 illustrates a typical Event Record from a Digital Input. The assigned Input Name, Identifier and Event Name within the record have been labeled.



Figure 4: Typical Event Record-No Details Format

Assigning Input Names, Identifiers and Event Name Pairs is described in each of the following sections.

#### INPUT NAMES

The Input Name can be any combination of alphanumeric characters not exceeding twenty characters in total length. Common practice is to use a relay circuit label or battery name as the Input Name. It is always included in the first line of every Event Record. To create a new Input Name, position the highlight and start typing. Move the highlight or press the **Enter** key to save each new Input Name.

#### DENTIFIERS

The Identifier can be thought of as an abbreviated name. It can be any combination of alphanumeric characters not exceeding eight characters in total length. It is a companion to the Input Name. It too is always included in the first line of every Event Record. In some cases the Identifier is included within the Live Status report and many of the front panel commands where the size of the LCD provides limited space for text. The screen entitled "Live Status Command for CWR-24E" on page 85 shows various inputs labeled by their Identifiers. To create a new Identifier, position the highlight and start typing. Move the highlight or press the Enter key to save each new Identifier.

#### **EVENT NAME PAIRS**

Task 12 "Creating a Set of Event Name Pairs" on page 33 described how to create useful Event Name Pairs. This task assumes that all of the Event Names have been created. What remains is to assign the Event Name Pairs to the appropriate inputs. This can be done by using either of the following methods.

**Spacebar Method**-Move the highlight to the appropriate row in the OnEvent/OffEvent column. Press the **Spacebar** repeatedly until the desired Event Name Pair is listed.

Numeric Method – Event Name Pairs are numbered 1 through 20. The number of the assigned Event Name Pair is listed in the last column. To change it, position the highlight appropriately and type in a new number. Move the highlight or press the **Enter** key to save each new assignment. The new assignment will appear immediately in the OnEvent/OffEvent column.

After all of the assignments have been created, press the **Esc** key twice to exit and return to the Main Menu.



# **DE-BOUNCE RELAYS USING DETECTION TIMES**

Contact bounce is a phenomenon that all mechanical relays and switches exhibit. In a recording device, if not correctly accounted for, it can cause multiple events to be logged when only one occurred. Your Event Recorder includes a user-controlled feature called Detection Time that can be used to debounce contacts, thus preventing the problems caused by false Event Records.

i

The Global Detect Time and Detect Times/Flash Enable settings can only be assigned in an Administrative Access session.

# BEFORE YOU START

This task assumes you have already connected your recorder to a PC running HyperTerminal and you have logged onto the recorder with the Administrative Password. The first five tasks of this guide explain how to prepare your PC and the log on procedure. The Main Menu should be displayed.

# **WHAT TO DO**

Your recorder includes two commands that can be used to assign Detection Times to Digital Inputs. Both commands are described in the following two sections. The Global Detect Time command is used to assign a common value to all Digital Inputs. The Detect Times/Flash Enable command is used to assign values to specific Digital Inputs. It is also used to enable or disable the flashing feature for specific inputs. The latter is the subject of Task 15 "Record Events from Flashing Inputs" on page 41.

#### **GLOBAL DETECT TIME**

From the Main Menu select the Setup>Global Detect Time command. A screen similar to the following will be displayed.

Global Detect Time	
Detect Time for All Inputs:	0.000



This command applies a single Detection Time setting to all Digital Inputs. If a single value is appropriate for all Digital Inputs this command will save the user a substantial amount of time. To apply a universal setting, type a number in the range from 0.000 to 32.767 seconds (0.00 to 327.67 for all CWR devices larger than the CWR-24E). Leading and trailing zeros are not required. Press the **Enter** key to save the new setting.



The Global Detect Time command will overwrite the Detection Times associated with Digital Inputs that have been enabled for flashing. After using this command it may be necessary to re-establish specific settings for these inputs.

Press the **Esc** key twice to exit and return to the Main Menu.

#### DETECT TIMES / FLASH ENABLE

From the Main Menu select the Setup > Detect Times / Flash Enable command. A screen similar to the following will be displayed. The following sample data corresponds to the sample data and Event Records used throughout this guide.

Detect Times/Flash Enable Detect Input Time Flash	
Input Time Flash D01 0.300 No D02 0.300 No D03 0.300 No D04 0.300 No D05 0.300 No D06 0.300 No D06 0.300 No D07 0.300 No D08 0.300 No D09 0.300 No D10 0.300 No D10 0.300 No D11 0.300 No D12 0.300 No D12 0.300 No D13 0.300 No D14 0.300 No D14 0.300 No D14 0.300 No	
D17 0.300 No D18 0.300 No D19 0.300 No D19 0.300 No D20 0.667 Yes	

Detect Times / Flash Enable Command

To change a specific setting move the highlight in the Detect Time column of the desired Digital Input and type a new value. Detection Times can range from 0.000 to 32.767 seconds (0.00 to 327.67 for all CWR devices larger than the CWR-24E). Leading and trailing zeros are not required. Move the highlight or press the **Enter** key to save each new Detection Time.

To disable a Digital Input from creating any Event Records, set its Detection Time to zero.

A Detection Time of .3 seconds will generally provide excellent results for typical vital and non-vital relays.

After all of the assignments have been created, press the **Esc** key twice to exit and return to the Main Menu.

# **R**ELATED **F**EATURES

#### **DETECTION TIMES FOR FLASHING INPUTS**

The sample data screen entitled "Detect Times/Flash Enable Command" lists a different value for the Detection Time assigned to Digital Input D20. This input is enabled for flashing operation. The Detection Times for Flashing Inputs represent a special case. The unique aspects of Flashing Inputs are described in Task 15 "Record Events from Flashing Inputs" on page 41.



#### SETTING DETECTION TIMES FOR FLASHING INPUTS

Task 14 "De-bounce Relays Using Detection Times" on page 39 described how Detection Times are used to prevent false Event Records from being created. However, a different set of guidelines are used when assigning Detection Times to Flashing Inputs. Additionally, it is best to create a single On Event Record at the start of flashing and a single Off Event Record at the cessation of flashing. Once the Flashing Input is properly configured, its Off Event Record will report the average flash rate while the crossing was active.

The Detect Times/Flash Enable settings can only be assigned in an Administrative Access session.

# BEFORE YOU START

This task assumes you have already connected your recorder to a PC running HyperTerminal and you have logged onto the recorder with the Administrative Password. The first five tasks of this guide explain how to prepare your PC and the log on procedure. The Main Menu should be displayed.

# **WHAT TO DO**

From the Main Menu select the Setup>Detect Times/Flash Enable command. A screen similar to the following will be displayed. The following sample data corresponds to the sample data and Event Records used throughout this guide.

Detect Times/Flash Enable Detect
Input Time Flash
D01 0.300 NO
D03 0.300 No
D04 0.300 No
D05 0.300 No
DUO U.3UU NU DO7 0.300 No
D08 0.300 No
D09 0.300 No
D10 0.300 No
DII U.300 NO DI2 0.300 No
D12 0.000 NO
D14 0.300 No
D15 0.300 No
D16 0.300 No
D1/ U.300 NO D18 0.300 No
D19 0.300 No
D20 0.667 Yes

Detect Times / Flash Enable Command

There are two settings that control the behavior of Flashing Inputs. They are the Flash setting (either Yes or No) and the Detect Time value. Both settings are described in the following sections.

#### FLASH (ENABLE / DISABLE)

For a Digital Input to respond properly to a sequence of flashing pulses it must be enabled for flashing operation. To do so, simply move the highlight to the Flash column of the appropriate Digital Input. Press the **Spacebar** key to change the setting to Yes. Change additional settings as required. The correct Detection Time must now be assigned.

#### DETECT TIME VALUE

Briefly stated, the goal is to assign a Detection Time that is appropriate for the nominal flash rate. A simple formula can be used for this purpose. The formula is:

#### Detection Time (in seconds) = 30+FPM Rate

Using the formula, a flash rate of 55 fpm yields a Detection Time of .545 seconds. A flash rate of 45 fpm yields a Detection Time of .667 seconds.

 $(\mathbf{i})$ 

Detection Times are set to the nearest hundredth of a second for all CWR devices larger than the CWR-24E.

Detection Times are explained further in Figure 5.



Figure 5: Typical Flashing Pulse Sequence

To change a specific setting, simply position the highlight in the Detect Time column of the desired Digital Input and type a new value. Leading and trailing zeros are not required. Press the **Enter** key or reposition the highlight to save the new setting.

After all of the assignments have been created, press the **Esc** key twice to exit and return to the Main Menu.

### **RELATED FEATURES**

#### MEASURE FLASH RATE

Your recorder can precisely measure and report the flash rate of a circuit. This feature will also report the correct Detection Time to be used for the measured flash rate. Refer to Task 29 "Using the Measure Flash Rate Features" on page 87.

#### FLASH RATE REPORTING

As illustrated in Figure 6 an Off Event Record will be saved to memory when the flashing sequence terminates. It is then possible to report the average flash rate while the crossing was active. Figure 6 shows two Event Records. Digital Input D13 is not enabled as a Flashing Input. Digital Input D20 is enabled. An average flash rate of 46.0 fpm was reported in the second Event Record.

						Flash Rate
15:32:20.013	07/04/12	ISLAND CIRCUIT-2T	ISLD-2T	TK UP	D13	
15:33:29.775	07/04/12	FLASH RATE 1	FLASH 1	FLASHOFF	D 2 0	46.0FPM

Figure 6: Flash Rate Reported in Event Record

User No	DTES
15	



# Configuring Analog Inputs for Use with Batteries and AC Power

Your recording device is most likely equipped with four or eight Analog Inputs. Typically, these inputs will be wired to various battery and AC power sources. Unlike Digital Inputs, Analog Inputs are continuously scanned to determine if their voltages are at levels outside of acceptable limits. An Event Record is saved to memory every time an Analog Input crosses a user-defined Limit Value.

The Analog Configuration can only be defined in an Administrative Access session.

# BEFORE YOU START

This task assumes you have already connected your recorder to a PC running HyperTerminal and you have logged onto the recorder with the Administrative Password. The first five tasks of this guide explain how to prepare your PC and the log on procedure. The Main Menu should be displayed.

#### **WHAT TO DO**

From the Main Menu select the Setup>Analog Configuration command. A screen similar to the following will be displayed.

Innut	Dango	Analog	Configuration	llich Limit	
Input	Range	FILLER	LOW LINIT	HIGH LIMIT	
A01 A02 A03 A04	+/-25.5Vdc +/-25.5Vdc +/-25.5Vdc +/-25.5Vdc	Slow Slow Slow Slow Slow	-25.6 -25.6 -25.6 -25.6	25.5 25.5 25.5 25.5 25.5	
	*Recommer	nd "Slow" for	^ AC		



The factory default settings are shown for a device with four Analog Inputs (i.e., A01 through A04). Larger recording devices may have their last Analog Input identified as A08, A16 or greater. The Analog Input is always identified in the first column of the Analog Configuration data screen. A description of each Analog Configuration setting is provided in the sections that follow.

**Voltage Range**–Like a Digital Volt Meter (DVM), each Analog Input can be assigned a voltage scale, referred to as a Range. For the sample data shown the Range has been assigned as ±25.5 Vdc. Range settings of 51.1 Vdc and 255 Vac are appropriate for monitoring battery and AC power sources, respectively.

To change the Range setting simply move the highlight to the desired setting and press the **Spacebar** repeatedly until the required setting is displayed. Seven distinct Ranges are available. Among them are  $\pm 25.5$  Vdc, 51.1 Vdc,  $\pm 255$  Vdc and 25.5 Vac.

**Filter**-The Fast setting is generally best suited for monitoring DC voltages. The Slow setting should always be used with AC inputs. To change the setting simply press the **Spacebar**.

Low and High Limit Values – Limit Values are used to establish an acceptable and unacceptable range of operation for each Analog Input. They always occur in pairs. The range between the Low and High Limit Values defines the acceptable range. The range outside these Limit Values defines the unacceptable range.

Event Records are saved to memory whenever a Digital Input transitions from Off to On or from On to Off. For Analog Inputs, Event Records are saved to memory whenever their voltage transitions into or out of the acceptable range. Figure 7 illustrates this behavior.



Figure 7: Limit Values and Event Name Pair Correspondence

The previous figure also illustrates the correspondence between Event Name Pair assignments and transitions into and out of the acceptable range of operation. The correspondence is described in the following.

- When the Analog Input voltage falls below the Low Limit Value (e.g., 9.5 Vdc) or exceeds the High Limit Value (e.g., 14.0 Vdc) an Event Record is saved to memory using the assigned On Event Name (e.g., BATTFAIL). The input voltage has transitioned into the unacceptable range.
- Conversely, when the Analog Input voltage exceeds the Low Limit Value or falls below the High Limit Value an Event Record is also saved to memory using the assigned Off Event Name (e.g., BATT\_OK). The input voltage has transitioned into the acceptable range.

Event Records for Analog Inputs are saved to memory once per transition. Only when the voltage crosses a Limit Value is the record time stamped with the current time and saved. No additional records are saved provided the voltage remains within the same range.

To change an existing Limit Value perform the following steps.

- 1. Move the highlight to an appropriate field.
- 2. Enter a positive or negative value. Leading zeros are not required.
- 3. Move the highlight to another field as required.

- 4. Enter additional values as needed. Move the highlight or press the **Enter** key after the last change has been made.
- 5. Press the **Esc** key twice to exit and return to the Main Menu.

# **R**ELATED **F**EATURES

#### EVENT NAME PAIRS

Over time, Digital and Analog Inputs will transition On and Off or into and out of their acceptable range of operation, respectively. The Event Name Pair feature allows the user to distinguish Event Records based upon the state of the input. An On transition may indicate an occupied track condition. An Off transition may indicate an unoccupied track condition. Assigning Event Names such as Occupied and Idle add immediate clarity to the records. Event Names are the subject of Task 12. The formatting of Event Records is fully described in Task 27 "Event Record Formatting Options" on page 81.

USER NOTES						
_						
16						



# CONFIGURING THE ETHERNET PORT

Your recording device may be equipped with an optional Ethernet Port. It is a standard equipment item with the CWR-264XL and CWR-272XL Event Recorders. The Ethernet Port provides you with a high speed method of accessing the recording device locally. Additionally, it can provide a remote access portal when the device is connected to a LAN or WAN. In order to take advantage of this feature the Ethernet Port must be properly configured.

The Network configuration can only be defined in an Administrative Access session.

# BEFORE YOU START

This task assumes you have already connected your recorder to a PC running HyperTerminal and you have logged onto the recorder with the Administrative Password. The first five tasks of this guide explain how to prepare your PC and the log on procedure. The Main Menu should be displayed.

# **WHAT TO DO**

From the Main Menu select the Setup>Network command. A screen similar to the following will be displayed.



Network Command

The settings shown in the sample data reflect the condition of your recorder as it arrives from the factory. There are six parameters that the user may need to alter. A description of each is included in the following sections.

**IP Address**-The IP Address takes the form nnn.nnn.nnn where nnn is any value ranging from 000 to 255. This address must be set in accordance with the network requirements, Subnet Mask value and Gateway address. Additionally, the assigned IP Address must match the Host address used to define the HyperTerminal connection. This is described in the section entitled "Creating a New Telnet Connection" on page 9.

**Subnet mask**-A setting of 255.255.255.0 will work in most simple networks. However, in larger networks involving dozens or perhaps hundreds of devices, a different value will likely be required. The responsible IT manager may have to be consulted for a recommendation.

**Gateway** - A setting of 0.0.0.0 will work in most simple networks. However, in larger networks involving dozens or perhaps hundreds of devices, a different value will likely be required. The responsible IT manager may have to be consulted for a recommendation.

**Ethernet MAC Address**-This setting should never have to be changed. The MAC Address is formed by two parts. The first six characters (e.g., 00-08-DC) is uniquely identified with the manufacturer of the

Ethernet Port module used in all MICRO-AIDE recording devices. The last six characters (e.g., 01-23-45) are the serial number of the recording device. Accordingly, the MAC Address formed by the two parts is assured to be unique even within large networks.

Use extreme caution when changing the Ethernet MAC Address. Serious network conflicts can arise if the newly assigned address is already being used by another device.

**Port**-Like the IP Address, the Port must also be set in accordance with the HyperTerminal Port assignment. Refer to the section entitled "Creating a New Telnet Connection" on page 9. Generally a value of 5000 is acceptable. The Port number should always be set to a value greater than 1024 to be in compliance with established network practices.

**TCP/IP mode**-This setting controls how data transparency is handled by the Ethernet Port. When using a HyperTerminal connection use the Telnet setting. When using MICRO-AIDE's Graphical Event Analyzer (GEA) software use the Raw TCP/IP setting. To change the setting simply press the **Spacebar** key.

Move the highlight to save each new assignment. Press the **Esc** key to complete the command. The following messages will be displayed depending on which changes were made.

CHANGE MAC ADDRESS (normally 00-08-DC-xx-xx-xx), are you SURE? No Yes	
Network settings changed, restart network now? No Yes	

Select Yes to confirm your changes. Press the **Esc** key to return to the Main Menu.

# **R**ELATED **F**EATURES

#### Making an Ethernet Connection

Assuming you have selected Telnet as the TCP/IP mode setting, you are probably interested in creating an Ethernet connection using your PC. This procedure is described in Task 3 "Creating a HyperTerminal Telnet Connection" on page 9.

17



# **CONFIGURING TIMER INPUTS**

Your recording device is also equipped with a large number of programmable Timer Inputs. Timer Inputs can be used to time the interval between any two events. The events may be related to the operation of one or more relays or perhaps the changes in state of an Analog Input. In fact, if any condition creates one or more Event Records then it can be timed. Additionally, you can define Limit Values that allow you to determine if the condition occurred too quickly, slowly or with an acceptable duration. Timer Inputs create Event Records that are saved to memory just like other records.

The Timer Input configuration can only be defined in an Administrative Access session.

# BEFORE YOU START

This task assumes you have already connected your recorder to a PC running HyperTerminal and you have logged onto the recorder with the Administrative Password. The first five tasks of this guide explain how to prepare your PC and the log on procedure. The Main Menu should be displayed.



Figure 8 illustrates how Timer Inputs can be defined.

A Timer Input is triggered by a source referred to as the From input. The ensuing timed duration is terminated by another (or same) source referred to as the To input. Either Off to On or On to Off transitions further define the To and From sources. These transitions are referred to as the Event. Finally, the timed duration is compared to a pair of user-defined values referred to as the LowLimit and HighLimit. They are used to determine if the timed duration was too fast, slow or acceptable within a nominal range.

MICRO-AIDE

Figure 8: Configuring Timer Inputs

#### **WHAT TO DO**

From the Main Menu select the Setup>Timer Inputs command. A screen similar to the following will be displayed.

		Ti	mer Co	nfigurat	ion	
Timer	From	Event	То	Event	LowLimit	HighLimit
101		011		011	0.0	0.0
Т02		Off		Off	0.0	0.0
Т03		Off		Off	0.0	0.0
Т04		Off		Off	0.0	0.0
T05		Off		Off	0.0	0.0
Т06		Off		Off	0.0	0.0
T07		Off		Off	0.0	0.0
Т08		Off		Off	0.0	0.0
Т09		Off		Off	0.0	0.0
T10		Off		Off	0.0	0.0
T11		Off		Off	0.0	0.0
T12		Off		Off	0.0	0.0
T13		Off		Off	0.0	0.0
T14		Off		Off	0.0	0.0
T15		Off		Off	0.0	0.0
T16		Off		Off	0.0	0.0

Timer Inputs Command

The factory default settings are shown for a CWR-24E with sixteen Timer Inputs (i.e., T01 through T16). Larger recording devices will have a greater number of Timer Inputs. The Timer Input is always identified in the first column of the Timer Configuration data screen. A description of each Timer Configuration setting is provided in the sections that follow.

**From**–Enter a setting in the form **Dn**, **An**, **Vn** or **Tn** for Digital, Analog, Virtual and Timer Inputs, respectively. The value n must be in the proper range for the input type selected.

**Event**-The first Event field establishes the transition for the From source. Off means the input must transition from On to Off. On means the input must transition from Off to On. Press the **Spacebar** key to toggle the currently displayed setting.

**To**-Enter a setting in the form **Dn**, **An or Vn** for Digital, Analog and Virtual Inputs, respectively. The value n must be in the proper range for the input type selected.

**Event**-The second Event field establishes the transition for the To source. Off means the input must transition from On to Off. On means the input must transition from Off to On. Press the **Spacebar** key to toggle the currently displayed setting.

**LowLimit**-The LowLimit setting can be any value in the range of 0.0 to 999.9 seconds. Leading zeros are not required. The timed duration is considered to be too fast if it is less than the LowLimit value.

**HighLimit**-The HighLimit setting can be any value in the range of 0.0 to 999.9 seconds. Leading zeros are not required. The timed duration is considered to be too slow if it is greater than the HighLimit value.

To change any existing settings perform the following steps.

- 1. Move the highlight to an appropriate field.
- 2. Enter a value or press the Spacebar to change the setting. Leading zeros are not required.

MICRO-AIDE

- 3. Move the highlight to another field as required.
- 4. Change additional settings as required.
- 5. Press the **Esc** key twice to exit and return to the Main Menu.

18

# **R**ELATED **F**EATURES

#### **EVENT NAME PAIRS**

Timer Inputs will create two slightly different Event Records. They are distinguished by their Event Names. The factory default setting for Event Name Pair 20 is Nominal/Violate. Additionally, Event Name Pair 20 is assigned to all Timer Inputs. Either of these settings can be changed by the user. Refer to Task 12 "Creating a Set of Event Name Pairs" on page 33 and Task 13 "Assigning Input Names, Identifiers and Event Name Pairs" on page 37. Provided these settings have not been changed, a timed duration that is either too fast or slow will create an Event Record that includes an Event Name of Violate. Conversely, a timed duration that is within an acceptable range will create an Event Record that includes an Event Name of Nominal.

#### TIMER INPUT EVENT RECORDS

Figure 9 illustrates a typical Timer Input Event Record. The record includes a standard date and time stamp along with an Input Name, Identifier and Input Number. The last field reports the timed duration in seconds. The reported Event Name is based upon the measured duration and LowLimit and HighLimit values. For the example cited the timed duration was unacceptable.



Figure 9: Typical Timer Input Event Record

USER NOTES						



## **CONFIGURING THE TRAIN SPEED MONITORS**

Your recording device may be equipped with a Train Speed Monitor feature. This feature is included with the CWR-22XL, -24E, -56, -72, -72E, -264, -264E, -264XL and -264XC Event Recorders. It is not included in either VDL product. Your device may include four, eight or sixteen monitors, all of which can be uniquely configured to report speed violations. Violations are reported as an Event Record just like other events. The record lists the excessive speed in miles per hour (mph).

The Train Speed Monitor configuration can only be defined in an Administrative Access session.

# BEFORE YOU START

This task assumes you have already connected your recorder to a PC running HyperTerminal and you have logged onto the recorder with the Administrative Password. The first five tasks of this guide explain how to prepare your PC and the log on procedure. The Main Menu should be displayed.

Each of the programmable Train Speed Monitors performs a simple distance divided by time calculation. The answer is then converted to mph. In order to perform the calculation, a particular hardware configuration must be established for each monitor. Figure 10 illustrates the requirements for each Train Speed Monitor.



Figure 10: Typical Train Speed Monitor Configuration

Two sensors are required, one up-track and the other down-track. The sensors detect the presence of a train. Their outputs are wired to spare Digital Inputs of the recorder. When a train is present their outputs

must register an On state with the Digital Input (i.e., 9Vdc or greater is applied). The sensor outputs must not pulse as would wheel detectors. When a Digital Input is assigned as a sensor, its Detection Time is automatically adjusted to support the monitor feature. Finally, the distance between each sensor must be known. Limit Values are assigned by the user to establish the excessive speed criteria.

#### **WHAT TO DO**

From the Main Menu select the Setup>Measure Speed command. A screen similar to the following will be displayed.



Measure Speed Command

The factory default settings are shown for a CWR-24E with four Train Speed Monitors (i.e., S08 through S11). Larger recording devices will have a greater number of monitors. A description of each setting is provided in the sections that follow.

Sensor1 and Sensor2–Enter the appropriate Digital Input number in the form **Dn**. The value n must be in the proper range for the recorder in use.

**Distance**–Enter a whole number value in either inches or feet. Only the CWR-22XL and CWR-24E will accept distances measured in inches.

#### Greater Distance values will result in more accurate speed reporting.

**Units**-This field is only available to the CWR-22XL and CWR-24E. All other recorders assume the Distance is measured in feet. If available, it can be set to either inches or feet.

**Threshold**-This setting establishes the speed limit. Measured speeds that exceed this limit will be reported with specific Event Record content.

- 1. Move the highlight to an appropriate field.
- 2. Enter a value or press the Spacebar to change the setting. Leading zeros are not required.
- 3. Move the highlight to another field as required.
- 4. Change additional settings as required.
- 5. Press the Esc key twice to exit and return to the Main Menu.

#### **R**ELATED **F**EATURES

#### SYSTEM INPUTS

Your recording device includes Digital, Analog, Virtual and Timer Inputs. The latter two are always userdefined. However, your device also includes a set of System Inputs. They are useful in reporting loss of power to the device and extreme internal temperatures. System Inputs are also used to report train speeds. System Inputs are distinguished by their S-prefix. As an example, the Train Speed Monitor feature may use S08 to identify the first of several System Inputs that report train speed. System Inputs generate Event Records just like Digital and Analog Inputs do. Refer to the following section for additional information.

#### TRAIN SPEED MONITOR EVENT RECORDS

Figure 11 illustrates a pair of typical train speed Event Records. The records are from the first and fourth Train Speed Monitors. Accordingly, the records report System Inputs of S08 and S11, respectively. In each case the speed limit was set to 20 mph. The first record indicates a violation with a speed of 23 mph. It reports an Event Name of ON. The second record reports an acceptable speed of 15 mph. Its Event Name is OFF. The Train Speed Monitors always report speed via Event Records, regardless of whether the measured speed is found to be excessive or not.

Like all System Events, train speed records include labels that cannot be altered by the user. The Input Name, Identifier and Event Name Pair are fixed as shown in the illustration.



Figure 11: Typical Train Speed Monitor Event Record

19

USER NOTES						
_						
19						


## PRINTING THE SETUP DATABASE

At any time while you are configuring your recording device you can easily and quickly review your assignments. This can be very helpful in verifying the accuracy and completeness of the configuration. The entire collection of Unit Name, Input Names, Detection Times, etc. is referred to as the Setup Database.



The Print Setup Data command is available to Administrative and Restricted Access sessions.

## BEFORE YOU START

This task assumes you have already connected your recorder to a PC running HyperTerminal and you have logged onto the recorder. The first five tasks of this guide explain how to prepare your PC and the log on procedure. The Main Menu should be displayed.

### **WHAT TO DO**

From the Main Menu select the Setup > Print Setup Data command. A screen similar to the following will be displayed.

Print Setup Data
P Print All E Print Event Names I Print Input Names/Identifiers D Print Detect Times/Flash Enable A Print Analog Configuration V Print Virtual Inputs T Print Timer Configuration M Print Measure Speed Parameters N Print Network Settings S Print System Parameters

Print Setup Data Command

Select any of the print options that best suit your inquiry. The Print All command allows you to review every setting in the Setup Database. The following sample data shows the end of a Print All report. It lists the factory default system parameters for a CWR-24E.

Report printed on 07-04-	12
Unit Name: ***** NOT SET *****	
Terminal Port Baud Rate: Administrative Password:	38400 PASSWORD
Restricted Password:	LOOKWORD 12345678
Ring Count:	2
Secondary Dial Number:	
Clock Sync Mode: Clock Sync Input:	GPS
Time Zone Davlight Saving Time	PST (UTC-8) Enabled
High Temp Limit:	257 Degrees F 67 Degrees F
Record Flash Details	Disabled
hit any key to continue	

End of Print All Report

At the completion of the report, press the **Esc** key twice to exit and return to the Main Menu.

### **R**ELATED **F**EATURES

#### PRINTING THE SETUP DATABASE

The on-screen, readable version of the Setup Database can be captured as a .txt file using HyperTerminal. The procedure for doing so is described in the section entitled "Setting Up Capture Mode" on page 71. Once captured, the .txt file can be printed at any time.



### DOWNLOAD THE SETUP DATABASE TO A PC FILE

Once the Setup Database has been verified as complete and accurate it is advisable to save a copy of it in your PC. Your recording device also includes a command that allows the saved database to be loaded into the recorder in case it is accidentally erased or altered. The latter feature is the subject of Task 22 "Upload the Setup Database from a PC File" on page 63.



The Download Setup Data command is available to Administrative and Restricted Access sessions.

### BEFORE YOU START

This task assumes you have already connected your recorder to a PC running HyperTerminal and you have logged onto the recorder. The first five tasks of this guide explain how to prepare your PC and the log on procedure. The Main Menu should be displayed.

### **WHAT TO DO**

From the Main Menu select the Transfer Files command. The following screen will be displayed.



Transfer Files Command

To save a copy of the current database perform the following steps.

1. Select the Download Setup Data sub-command. The following message will be displayed.

Sending Setup Data via XMODEM... (Ctrl-X to stop)

2. Click on the HyperTerminal command named "Transfer>Receive File...". It is located in the menu bar at the top of the HyperTerminal window. The following dialog box will be displayed.

Receive File			? ×
<u>Place received file</u>   <u>U</u> se receiving prote	in the following fo	lder:	Browse
Xmodem			•
	<u>R</u> eceive	<u>C</u> lose	Cancel

HyperTerminal-Receive File Dialog Box

 Click the down arrow at the right edge of the drop-down list box labeled "Use receiving protocol:". Select "Xmodem" as the protocol.



This procedure will fail if Xmodem is not selected as the transfer protocol.

4. Click the button labeled "Browse...". A dialog box similar to the following will be displayed.

Select a Folder	? X
<u>F</u> olders:	OK
c:\users\ron\desktop	Cancel
Criv Crivers Crivers Crivers Crivers Desktop	
Drives:	Network

HyperTerminal-Select a Folder Dialog Box

5. Navigate to and select the folder where the file will be saved. Click the button labeled "OK". The "Receive File" dialog box shown in step 2 will reappear. Click the button labeled "Receive". The following dialog box will be displayed.

Receive Filename					
Xmodem never sends a filename, so you must specify a filename for storing the received file.					
Folder: C:\Users\Ron\Desktop					
Eilename:					
OK Cancel					

HyperTerminal-Receive Filename Dialog Box

6. In the edit box labeled "Filename:" enter a descriptive name (e.g., "Mainline-2.bin") for the file. The file's extension must be ".bin". Click the button labeled "OK". A dialog box similar to the following will be displayed for several seconds. It indicates the progress of the file transfer. It will close automatically.

Xmodem file receive for USB-Serial Adapter					
Storing as:	C:\Users\Ron\Desktop\Mainline-2.bin				
Packet:	48 Error checking: CRC				
Retries:	0 Total retries: 0 File: 5K				
Last error:	Throughput				
Elapsed:	00:00:02				
	Cancel				

HyperTerminal-Xmodem File Receive Dialog Box

7. Upon the successful conclusion of the file transfer, the recorder will display the following message.

ĺ	Transfer complete	
l	Press any key to continue	J
		,

8. Press the **Esc** key twice to exit and return to the Main Menu.



## UPLOAD THE SETUP DATABASE FROM A PC FILE

Once you have saved the Setup Database, it can be used to restore a functional database to your recording device. This practice can be very useful in the event the current database is accidentally erased or altered. The procedure used to save a database to a PC file is described in Task 21 "Download the Setup Database to a PC File" on page 61.



The Upload Setup Data command is only available to Administrative Access sessions.

### BEFORE YOU START

This task assumes you have already connected your recorder to a PC running HyperTerminal and you have logged onto the recorder with the Administrative Password. The first five tasks of this guide explain how to prepare your PC and the log on procedure. The Main Menu should be displayed.

### **WHAT TO DO**

From the Main Menu select the Transfer Files command. The following screen will be displayed.



Transfer Files Command

To restore a database perform the following steps.

1. Select the Upload Setup Data sub-command. The following message will be displayed.

Are you SURE you want to upload new Setup Data from PC to CWR? No Yes

2. To proceed with the file transfer select the Yes option. The following message will be displayed.

Receiving Setup Data via XMODEM... (Ctrl-X to stop)

3. Click on the HyperTerminal command named "Transfer>Send File...". It is located in the menu bar at the top of the HyperTerminal window. The following dialog box will be displayed.

Send File		? ×
Folder: C:\Use	ers\Ron\Documents\M-AIDE\D\S	Setup Databases
<u>F</u> ilename:		Browse
Protocol: Xmodem		•
	Send Close	Cancel

HyperTerminal-Send File Dialog Box

4. Click the down arrow at the right edge of the drop-down list box labeled "Protocol:". Select "Xmodem" as the protocol.



This procedure will fail if Xmodem is not selected as the transfer protocol.

5. Click the button labeled "Browse...". A dialog box similar to the following will be displayed.

Select File to Send					x
🕞 🗢 💻 Desktop	•		👻 🍫 Search De	esktop	٩
Organize 🔻 New f	older			· · ·	?
4 ☆ Favorites	🔺 Nai	me	Date modified	Туре	-
Computer	2	PowerPoint 2010	12/15/2010 7:41 PM	Shortcut	
📃 Desktop	_ D	RI CentralAve MicroAide	10/6/2011 5:45 PM	Text Document	
Downloads	5	RSA Validator	8/27/2009 3:16 PM	Shortcut	
🐌 M-AIDE	2	Share	7/20/2009 2:56 PM	Shortcut	
📃 Recent Places	- 🔝	Telnet-Raven X	7/1/2010 11:29 AM	Shortcut	
	2	Tera Term	7/13/2010 3:15 PM	Shortcut	
4 🥽 Libraries	20	USB-Serial Adapter	7/1/2010 11:22 AM	Shortcut	_
Documents	20	USB-USB	7/1/2010 11:20 AM	Shortcut	E
🖻 🎝 Music	2	Windows Explorer	1/20/2008 7:20 PM	Shortcut	
Pictures	24	Word 2010	12/15/2010 7:41 PM	Shortcut	-
Videos	<b>▼</b>				•
Fil	le <u>n</u> ame:		✓ All Files (*.)	")	•
			<u>O</u> pen	Cancel	

- HyperTerminal-Select File to Send Dialog Box
- 6. Navigate to and select the file to be sent. Click the button labeled "Open". The Send File dialog box shown in step 3 will reappear. Click the button labeled "Send". The following dialog box will be displayed.

Xmodem fi	Xmodem file send for USB-Serial Adapter						
Sending:	C:\Users\Ron\Desktop\Mainline-2.bin						
Packet:	25 Error checking: CRC						
Retries:	0 Total retries: 0						
Last error:							
File:	2K of 6K						
Elapsed:	00:00:01 Remaining: Throughput:						
	Cancel						

HyperTerminal-Xmodem File Send Dialog Box

- 7. The preceding dialog box will be displayed for several seconds. It indicates the progress of the file transfer. It will close automatically.
- 8. Upon the successful conclusion of the file transfer, the recorder will display the following message.



9. Press the Esc key twice to exit and return to the Main Menu.



lask 23

### QUERY USING THE BROWSE OPTION

The Query Events command can be used to view Event Records at your PC monitor that have been previously logged to memory. The command allows you to select a range of dates and times for the data that is of interest to you. Several additional features allow you to control the range and content of the viewed records.



The Query Events command is available to Administrative and Restricted Access sessions.

### BEFORE YOU START

This task assumes you have already connected your recorder to a PC running HyperTerminal and you have logged onto the recorder. The first five tasks of this guide explain how to prepare your PC and the log on procedure. The Main Menu should be displayed.

To follow the examples cited in this task, your recorder must have Event Records logged to memory spanning two or more days.

### **WHAT TO DO**

From the Main Menu select the Query Events command. A screen similar to the following will be displayed.

			Select Rang	ge of Dates			
06-25-12 07-03-12 07-11-12 07-19-12	06-26-12 07-04-12 07-12-12 07-20-12	06-27-12 07-05-12 07-13-12	2 06-28-12 2 07-06-12 2 07-14-12	06-29-12 07-07-12 07-15-12	06-30-12 07-08-12 07-16-12	07-01-12 07-09-12 07-17-12	07-02-12 07-10-12 07-18-12
Use ar	row keys <sup>.</sup>	to move, S	Space=start	selection,	Enter=acc	ept, ESC=c	ancel

Query Events Command–Table of Dates

In the previously cited sample data, 26 consecutive dates are displayed. As many as 128 dates can be listed. At least one Event Record was logged to memory for each date listed. The highlight will always be located at the first date position (e.g., 06-25-12). A two-step process is required to view records. First, a date or range of dates must be selected. It is followed by selecting a range of times and report options.

#### SELECTING DATES

To select the date(s) perform either of the following procedures.

- To view records from a single date simply move the highlight to the desired date.
- To view records from two or more contiguous dates, move the highlight to the first date in the range.
  Press the Spacebar to anchor this position. Use the arrow keys to extend the highlight to encompass additional dates.

After the highlight has selected the correct date(s) press the **Enter** key. The time range and report options can now be selected.

#### SELECTING TIMES AND REPORT OPTIONS

After selecting the range of dates a screen similar to the following will be displayed.

	Start Date: Start Time:	07-04-12 00:00:00	
	End Date: End Time:	07-04-12 23:59:59	
	Include Details:	Yes	
	Reverse order: Report Type:	No Dump	
Inputs: (blank=all)			
	[F1]=Execute	Report, ESC=ca	incel

Query Events Command-Times and Report Options

The highlight will be located in the hour position of the Start Time field. The Start Date and End Date fields will be inaccessible as they were assigned when the range of dates was selected. There are six fields that you can control within the Query Events command. The use of each of these is described in the sections that follow.

**Start Time and End Time**–Event Records are time stamped using the 24-hour clock convention. To change either the Start Time or End Time move the highlight to the appropriate hour, minute or second field and enter a new value. Leading zeros are not required. Moving the highlight will accept the new value.

**Include Details** – The Include Details setting controls the amount of data included within each Event Record. In larger recording devices this field will be labeled Record Details. The number, if shown, in parenthesis (e.g., 1) indicates the number of text lines per Event Record. The latter can range from one to five. The various formatting options are described in Task 27 "Event Record Formatting Options" on page 81. Press the **Spacebar** key one or more times to change the Include Details or Record Details setting.

**Reverse Order**-The Reverse Order option allows you to list Event Records in either forward or reverse chronological order. Selecting No will issue records starting from the oldest. Selecting Yes will issue records starting from the newest. Press the **Spacebar** key to toggle the setting.

**Report Type**-The Report Type option can generally be assigned one of three settings. They are: Dump, Browse and Comma. Dump is the subject of Task 24 "Query Using the Dump Option" on page 69. Press the **Spacebar** key until the Browse setting is highlighted. Browse allows you to view records at your leisure. It will display multiple records, one screen at a time. This option should be selected if you intend to view records but not save them to a PC file. The records will be displayed indefinitely until you press the **Esc** key or advance forward or backward to a different record or set of records. The number of records listed per screen will vary with the Include Details or Record Details setting. A sample report is shown at the end of the next section. **Inputs** – The Inputs option can be left blank (default setting) in which case every record satisfying the assigned date and time requirements will be included within the report. However, the Inputs option can also be used to issue the report inclusive of selected inputs only. This provides you with a filtered report.

A specific Digital Input can be entered as Dn. A range of Digital Inputs can be entered as Dn-n. Analog and System Inputs use a prefix of A and S, respectively. Leading zeros are not required. Use a space to separate different groups of inputs. Press the **Enter** key to accept the inputs you have selected. Table 3 lists the single-letter code that is used to identify each input type.

Letter Code	Type of Input			
D	Digital			
A	Analog			
V	Virtual			
Т	Timer			
F	Flashing			
S	System			
Table 3: Input Type Identifiers				

Table 3: Input Type Identifiers

By way of example, setting the Inputs field to D1-10 D17 A1 S4-6 will allow you to view records from Digital Inputs 1 through 10 and 17, Analog Input 1 and System Inputs 4, 5 and 6.

After the six Query fields are properly assigned press the **F1** function key. After a short delay the report will be available for viewing. A single-line, sample report (i.e., not listing any additional details) is shown in the following.

ſ			Browse Event	S		
l	10:32:44.980	07/04/12	Speed Monitor 1	SpeedLim	ON	SO8 23MPH
l	11:02;35.015	07/04/12	Speed Monitor 4	SpeedLim	OFF	S11 15MPH
l	14:17:51:988	07/04/12	Timer 16	Timer16	Violate	T16 47.2s
l	15:32:20.013	07/04/12	ISLAND CIRCUIT-2T	ISLD-2T	TK UP	D13
l	15:32:21.502	07/04/12	W CONST WARNING-2T	WCWTD-2T	TK UP	D12
l	15:32:21.766	07/04/12	GC&XR-F	GC&XR-F	WARN OFF	D19
	15:32:25.273	07/04/12	WEST WRAP-2T	WWRAP-2T	TK UP	D11
l	15:33:29.775	07/04/12	FLASH RATE 1	FLASH 1	FLASHOFF	D20 46.0FPM
	15:34:26.780	07/04/12	EAST WRAP-2T	EWRAP-2T	TK UP	D15
l	16:00:00.211	07/04/12	GPS Clock Record	GPS Rec	OFF	S06 0.00SEC
	16:39:15.000	07/04/12	System Power	Power	OFF	S01
	[DOWN]=Next P	age [UP]=P	rev Page [RIGHT]=Next	Event [LEF	T]=Prev Ev	ent [ESC]=Quit

Query Events Command–Report Type Set to Browse

As the legend at the bottom of the report indicates, the arrow keys can be used to view additional records either one at a time or a full screen at a time. After you have reviewed all of the records of interest, press the **Esc** key to exit and return to the Main Menu.

### **R**ELATED **F**EATURES

#### PAUSING, RESTARTING AND TERMINATING A DUMP REPORT

Setting the Report Type field to Dump rather than Browse also allows you to view records. However, the Dump setting will stream all of the records one after the other. This feature makes it ideal for capturing records to a PC file. If you use the Dump setting to view records, the streaming can be paused by press-ing the **Ctrl** and **S** keys simultaneously. To restart the streaming, press the **Ctrl** and **Q** keys simultaneously.

Press the **Esc** key at any time to terminate the report, otherwise it will terminate automatically. At the end of the report the number of records will be listed along with a checksum that is unique to the report's record content.



Be aware that HyperTerminal will occasionally garble text within its window that has been scrolled backwards and then forwards. This is not a recorder-related problem.

### SAVING EVENT RECORDS TO A PC FILE

This task described how to view Event Records using HyperTerminal. Saving records to a PC file is the subject of Task 24 "Query Using the Dump Option" on page 69.

#### SAVING EVENT RECORDS TO A USB FLASH DRIVE

Your recording device may include a USB Host Port. The port allows you to save Event Records directly to a USB flash drive for later viewing at your PC. The procedure used to create and save an Event Record file to a flash drive can be performed from the front panel of the unit. A PC is not required. Task 25 "Saving Event Records to a USB Flash Drive" on page 75 describes this procedure.



## QUERY USING THE DUMP OPTION

The Query Events command can also be used to save Event Records to a PC file. The command allows you to select a range of dates and times for the data that is of interest to you. Several additional features allow you to control the range and content of the saved records.



The Query Events command is available to Administrative and Restricted Access sessions.

### BEFORE YOU START

This task assumes you have already connected your recorder to a PC running HyperTerminal and you have logged onto the recorder. The first five tasks of this guide explain how to prepare your PC and the log on procedure. The Main Menu should be displayed.

To follow the examples cited in this task, your recorder must have Event Records logged to memory spanning two or more days.

### **WHAT TO DO**

From the Main Menu select the Query Events command. A screen similar to the following will be displayed.

ſ		Select Range of Dates							
	06-25-12 07-03-12 07-11-12 07-19-12	06-26-12 07-04-12 07-12-12 07-20-12	06-27-12 07-05-12 07-13-12	06-28-12 07-06-12 07-14-12	06-29-12 07-07-12 07-15-12	06-30-12 07-08-12 07-16-12	07-01-12 07-09-12 07-17-12	07-02-12 07-10-12 07-18-12	
	Use ar	row keys t	o move, S	pace=start	selection,	Enter=acc	ept, ESC=c	ancel	

Query Events Command–Table of Dates

In the previously cited sample data, 26 consecutive dates are displayed. As many as 128 dates can be listed. At least one Event Record was logged to memory for each date listed. The highlight will always be located at the first date position (e.g., 06-25-12). A two-step process is required to view records. First, a date or range of dates must be selected. It is followed by selecting a range of times and report options.

#### SELECTING DATES

To select the date(s) perform either of the following procedures.

- To view records from a single date simply move the highlight to the desired date.
- To view records from two or more contiguous dates, move the highlight to the first date in the range.
  Press the Spacebar to anchor this position. Use the arrow keys to extend the highlight to encompass additional dates.

After the highlight has selected the correct date(s) press the **Enter** key. The time range and report options can now be selected.

#### SELECTING TIMES AND REPORT OPTIONS

After selecting the range of dates a screen similar to the following will be displayed.

	Query	Report	
	Start Date: Start Time:	07-04-12 00:00:00	
	End Date: End Time:	07-04-12 23:59:59	
	Include Details:	Yes	
	Reverse order: Report Type:	No Dump	
Inputs: (blank=all)			
	[F1]=Execute	Report, ESC=cancel	

Query Events Command-Times and Report Options

The highlight will be located in the hour position of the Start Time field. The Start Date and End Date fields will be inaccessible as they were assigned when the range of dates was selected. There are six fields that you can control within the Query Events command. The use of each of these is described in the sections that follow.

**Start Time and End Time**–Event Records are time stamped using the 24-hour clock convention. To change either the Start Time or End Time move the highlight to the appropriate hour, minute or second field and enter a new value. Leading zeros are not required. Moving the highlight will accept the new value.

**Include Details** – The Include Details setting controls the amount of data included within each Event Record. In larger recording devices this field will be labeled Record Details. The number, if shown, in parenthesis (e.g., 1) indicates the number of text lines per Event Record. The latter can range from one to five. The various formatting options are described in Task 27 "Event Record Formatting Options" on page 81. Press the **Spacebar** key one or more times to change the Include Details or Record Details setting.

**Reverse Order**-The Reverse Order option allows you to list Event Records in either forward or reverse chronological order. Selecting No will issue records starting from the oldest. Selecting Yes will issue records starting from the newest. Press the **Spacebar** key to toggle the setting.

**Report Type**-The Report Type option can generally be assigned one of three settings. They are: Dump, Browse and Comma. Browse is the subject of Task 23 "Query Using the Browse Option" on page 65. Press the **Spacebar** key until the Dump setting is highlighted. Dump allows you to save Event Record data to a PC file that can be read using a text editor application (e.g., Notepad<sup>®</sup>). The procedure for creating and saving the file is described in the section entitled "Setting Up Capture Mode" on page 71.

**Inputs**-The Inputs option can be left blank (default setting) in which case every record satisfying the assigned date and time requirements will be included within the report. However, the Inputs option can also be used to issue the report inclusive of selected inputs only. This provides you with a filtered report.

A specific Digital Input can be entered as Dn. A range of Digital Inputs can be entered as Dn-n. Analog and System Inputs use a prefix of A and S, respectively. Leading zeros are not required. Use a space to

Letter Code	Type of Input			
D	Digital			
A	Analog			
V	Virtual			
Т	Timer			
F	Flashing			
S	System			

separate different groups of inputs. Press the **Enter** key to accept the inputs you have selected. Table 4 lists the single-letter code that is used to identify each input type.

Table 4: Input Type Identifiers

By way of example, setting the Inputs field to D1-10 D17 A1 S4-6 will allow you to view records from Digital Inputs 1 through 10 and 17, Analog Input 1 and System Inputs 4, 5 and 6.

#### SETTING UP CAPTURE MODE

After the six Query fields are properly assigned, HyperTerminal must be configured to capture and save the Event Records. Event Records are comprised of simple text characters. To save records as a file the capture text feature of HyperTerminal is used as described in the following.

1. Click the command named "Transfer>Capture Text..." from the HyperTerminal menu bar. A dialog box similar to the following will be displayed.

Capture Te	ext		? ×
Folder: File:	C:\Users\Ron\Desktop		Browse
		Start	Cancel

HyperTerminal–Capture Text Dialog Box

2. Click the button labeled "Browse...". A dialog box similar to the following will be displayed.

Select Capture File					×
🕞 🗢 💻 Desktop	•		👻 🍫 Search De	sktop	٩
Organize 🔻 New	folde	r		•	0
🔺 🚖 Favorites	<b>^</b>	Name	Date modified	Туре	Siz
💻 Computer		🥽 Libraries		System Folder	
📃 Desktop	=	[ Ron Garcia		System Folder	
🗼 Downloads		👰 Computer		System Folder	
🐌 M-AIDE		📬 Network		System Folder	
📃 Recent Places		퉬 Source Metra Training	10/5/2011 8:01 AM	File folder	
		🛃 M-AIDE Folder	7/18/2009 8:14 AM	Shortcut	
a 📄 Libraries		🛃 Share	7/20/2009 2:56 PM	Shortcut	
Documents					
🖻 🎝 Music	-	•	III		•
File name:					-
Save as type: T	ext fil	e (*.TXT)			
🔿 Hide Folders			Save	Canc	el

- HyperTerminal–Select Capture File Dialog Box
- Navigate to or create the folder where the file will be saved. In the edit box labeled "File name:" enter a descriptive name for the file. The file's extension should be left as ".TXT". Click the button labeled "Save".

- 4. The "Capture Text" dialog box shown in step 1 will reappear. Click the button labeled "Start". The Captured Text file is now fully specified. The dialog box will close automatically.
- 5. Press the **F1** function key. After a short delay the selected Event Records will scroll across the HyperTerminal window while they are being saved to the Captured Text file.
- 6. The report will terminate automatically. At the end of the report the number of records will be listed along with a checksum that is unique to the report's record content. If at any time you wish to prematurely terminate the report press the **Esc** key. The end of a sample report is shown in the following.

ĺ	15:34:26.780	07/04/12	EAST WRAP-2T	EWRAP-2T	TK UP	D15
	16:00:00.211	07/04/12	GPS Clock Record	GPS Rec	OFF	S06 0.00SEC
	16:39:15.000	07/04/12	System Power	Power	OFF	S01
	Number of rec End of report Hit any key t	ords = 34 o continue	Checksum = 3523			

End of Sample Report

7. Once the report has been completed or terminated, click the command named "Transfer>Capture Text>Stop" from the HyperTerminal menu bar. This will close the Captured Text file.



Between the time you start and stop the capture mode, HyperTerminal will save every Event Record character along with every one of your keystrokes. Press the **F1** function key only after the Captured Text file is fully specified. Additionally, do not press any keys until after the report has been completed and the Captured Text file is closed.

8. Press the **Esc** key to exit and return to the Main Menu.

### 24 RELATED FEATURES

#### VIEW A CAPTURED TEXT FILE

The Captured Text file includes, by default, a .txt file extension. The file can be viewed and printed using any word processing application (e.g., Notepad or Word®). To open the file, use Windows Explorer to navigate to the folder you selected in step 3. Double-click the file of interest. Unless you specify otherwise, the Captured Text file will open in your default text file application.

#### PAUSING, RESTARTING AND TERMINATING A DUMP REPORT

You can view Event Record data by setting the Report Type field to Dump and not creating a capture file. However, the Dump setting will stream all of the records one after the other. The streaming can be paused by pressing the **Ctrl** and **S** keys simultaneously. To restart the streaming, press the **Ctrl** and **Q** keys simultaneously. Press the **Esc** key at any time to terminate the report, otherwise it will terminate automatically. At the end of the report the number of records will be listed along with a checksum that is unique to the report's record content.



Be aware that HyperTerminal will occasionally garble text within its window that has been scrolled backwards and then forwards. This is not a recorder-related problem.

#### BROWSING EVENT RECORDS

This task described how to save Event Records using HyperTerminal. To view records one screen at a time (i.e., no streaming) refer to Task 23 "Query Using the Browse Option" on page 65.

#### SAVING EVENT RECORDS TO A USB FLASH DRIVE

Your recording device may include a USB Host Port. The port allows you to save Event Records directly to a USB flash drive for later viewing at your PC. The procedure used to create and save an Event Record

file to a flash drive can be performed from the front panel of the unit. A PC is not required. Task 25 "Saving Event Records to a USB Flash Drive" on page 75 describes this procedure.

24

User No	DTES
24	



lask 25

## SAVING EVENT RECORDS TO A USB FLASH DRIVE

The front panel of your recording device may include a USB Host Port. The port is designed to accept commonly available flash drives. This capability allows you to save Event Record data without using a PC. The portability of the flash drive allows you to review and share your record data quickly and easily.



The front panel Save command is available to all users.

### BEFORE YOU START

This task requires that you have access to a USB flash drive. A PC is not required to save the records to the drive. However, a PC with a word processing application installed (e.g., Notepad or Word) is required to review the records.

To follow the examples cited in this task, your recorder must have Event Records logged to memory spanning two or more days.

### **WHAT TO DO**

Provided your recording device is a CWR-24E, -72E, -264XL, -272E or VDL you can quickly save all of the Event Records from a complete day. A slightly different procedure is used to save records from a specific range of dates and times. Follow the steps listed in the appropriate section.

#### SAVING EVENT RECORDS FROM A COMPLETE DAY

- 1. Insert the USB flash drive into the front panel connector labeled "USB Host Port".
- 2. Press the Save/. key. The following message will be displayed.



Save Command

- 3. Press the Enter key after highlighting the Records for one day option.
- 4. A table of dates similar to the following will be displayed.

062512	062612	062712
062812	062912	063012
070112	070221	070312
070412	070512	070612

#### Table of Dates

At least one Event Record will be logged for each date listed. Dates are listed in the MMDDYY format. The Event Records option may list as many as 128 dates. Only twelve dates are listed in the example cited previously. The up and down arrow keys can be used to scroll quickly through a large collection of dates.

25

#### MICRO-AIDE

5. Press the *Enter* key after highlighting a date. The following message will be displayed briefly after the delay required to create the text file.



- 6. Records from additional complete days can be saved by repeating this procedure starting at step 2.
- 7. Remove the flash drive from the USB Host Port after all the required records have been saved.

#### SAVING EVENT RECORDS FROM A RANGE OF TIMES AND DATES

- 1. Insert the USB flash drive into the connector labeled "USB Host Port".
- 2. Press the Save/. key. The following message will be displayed.

S	ave	5	to	f	las	sh	d	r	iv	e:
	Red	0	rds	5 1	foi	~ (	on	e	d	ay
	Red	0	rds	5 1	foi	- i	a	ra	an	ge

Save Command

- 3. Press the *Enter* key after highlighting the Records for a range option.
- 4. A table of dates similar to the following will be displayed. The dates represent the available start date of the range.

062512	062612	062712
062812	062912	063012
070112	070221	070312
070412	070512	070612

Table of Dates-Select Start Date

At least one Event Record will be logged for each date listed. Dates are listed in the MMDDYY format. The Event Records option may list as many as 128 dates. Only 12 dates are listed in the example cited previously. The up and down arrow keys can be used to scroll quickly through a large collection of dates.

5. Press the Enter key after highlighting a date. The following message will be displayed.



#### Select Start Time

- 6. To accept the 00:00:00 midnight setting as the start time, press the *Esc* key. To modify the start time move the highlight to the hours, minutes or seconds position. Press the *Enter* key. Press the number keys as required to create a new value. The recorder utilizes a military-style clock. Accordingly, 12:01:02 AM is defined as 00:01:02 and 12:59:58 PM is defined as 23:59:58. Leading zeros are not required. To accept the new value, press the *Esc* key. Using the same technique, adjust the other values as required. When the start time is correct, press the *Esc* key.
- 7. A table of dates similar to the following will be displayed. The dates represent the available end date of the range.

062512	062612	062712
062812	062912	063012
070112	070221	070312
070412	070512	070612

Table of Dates-End Date

8. Press the Enter key after highlighting a date. The following message will be displayed.

End time:
Enter=edit, Esc=OK
23:59:59

Select End Time

- 9. To accept the 23:59:59 setting as the end time, press the *Esc* key. To modify the end time use the procedure described in step 6. When the end time is correct, press the *Esc* key.
- 10. The following message will be displayed briefly after the delay required to create the text file.

Writing	events.txt
Writing	events.bin
Writing	setupdata
Su	iccess!

- 11. Records from other times and dates can be saved by repeating this procedure starting at step 2.
- 12. Remove the flash drive from the USB Host Port after all the required records have been saved.

### **R**ELATED **F**EATURES

#### FILES WRITTEN TO THE FLASH DRIVE

As noted in step 10 of the previous section, this procedure writes three different files to your drive. The first is a simple text file consisting of Event Records. The second is a smaller binary version of the same Event Record data. The third is another binary file that contains the complete contents of the Setup Database used by the recorder. The latter two files are used exclusively by MICRO-AIDE's GEA (Graphical Event Analyzer) software.

The following Windows Explorer screen shows the contents of a recorder data file named "DIST\_SUBDR\_ XING-NAME" which has been saved to a USB flash drive and is now installed as Drive F of the PC. The three files associated with the Save command, as described in this task, are shown in the right-side window pane.



Windows Explorer-Folder and Files Written to Flash Drive

#### **REVIEWING THE TEXT FILE**

The text version of the Event Record data will include a .txt file extension. The file can be viewed and printed using any word processing application. To open the file insert the USB flash drive into an available USB port on your PC. Use Windows Explorer to navigate to the drive. The text file of interest will be saved in a folder named after the first twenty characters of the assigned Unit Name. Unit Names are the subject of Task 8. Double-click the file of interest. Unless you specify otherwise, the file will open in your default text file application.

The text and binary files you save to your USB flash drive are always saved in a folder unique to the recorder. Additionally, each text file is assigned a specific filename that eliminates confusion with other files in the same folder. A typical file may be named as follows: 07-04-12@231223-070512.txt. The format of the filename is illustrated in Figure 12.



Figure 12: Filename Format Used by USB Host Port



Гask 26

## VIEW EVENTS AS THEY OCCUR

In some cases it may be advantageous to view and/or capture Event Records as they occur in real-time. The View Events command provides this capability. Its use is similar to that of the Query Events command with the Dump option selected.



The View Events command is available to Administrative and Restricted Access sessions.

## BEFORE YOU START

This task assumes you have already connected your recorder to a PC running HyperTerminal and you have logged onto the recorder. The first five tasks of this guide explain how to prepare your PC and the log on procedure. The Main Menu should be displayed.

### **WHAT TO DO**

From the Main Menu select the View Events command. A screen similar to the following will be displayed.



View Events Command

The content of the ensuing report is controlled by the Include Details and Inputs settings. Their use is described in the following two sections.

**Include Details** – The Include Details setting controls the amount of data included within each Event Record. In larger recording devices this field will be labeled Record Details. The number, if shown, in parenthesis (e.g., 1) indicates the number of text lines per Event Record. The latter can range from one to five. The various formatting options are described in Task 27 "Event Record Formatting Options" on page 81. Press the **Spacebar** key one or more times to change the Include Details or Record Details setting.

**Inputs** – The Inputs option can be left blank (default setting) in which case every record satisfying the assigned date and time requirements will be included within the report. However, the Inputs option can also be used to issue the report inclusive of selected inputs only. This provides you with a filtered report.

A specific Digital Input can be entered as Dn. A range of Digital Inputs can be entered as Dn-n. Analog and System Inputs use a prefix of A and S, respectively. Leading zeros are not required. Use a space to separate different groups of inputs. Press the **Enter** key to accept the inputs you have selected. Table 5 on page 80 lists the single-letter code that is used to identify each input type.

Letter Code	Type of Input
D	Digital
A	Analog
V	Virtual
Т	Timer
F	Flashing
S	System

Table 5: Input Type Identifiers

By way of example, setting the Inputs field to D1-10 D17 A1 S4-6 will allow you to view records from Digital Inputs 1 through 10 and 17, Analog Input 1 and System Inputs 4, 5 and 6.

After the two View Events fields are properly assigned press the **F1** function key. After a short delay the report will be available for viewing. A brief sample report with Include Details set to No is shown in the following.

ſ	15:34:26.780	07/04/12	EAST WRAP-2T	EWRAP-2T	TK UP	D15
	16:00:00.211	07/04/12	GPS Clock Record	GPS Rec	OFF	S06 0.00SEC
Į	16:39:15.000	07/04/12	System Power	Power	OFF	S01

View Events Command-Include Details Set to No Details

After you have viewed all of the records of interest, press the **Esc** key to terminate the report and return to the Main Menu.

#### **R**ELATED **F**EATURES

#### SAVING REAL-TIME EVENT RECORDS TO A PC FILE

The capture text to a file feature of HyperTerminal can be used to save real-time Event Records. The procedure for doing so is described in the section entitled "Setting Up Capture Mode" on page 71. Remember to press the **F1** function key only after the Captured Text file has been opened and named.

#### VIEW A CAPTURED TEXT FILE

The Captured Text file includes, by default, a .txt file extension. The file can be viewed and printed using any word processing application (e.g., Notepad or Word). To open the file, use Windows Explorer to navigate to the folder where the file is saved. Double-click the file of interest. Unless you specify otherwise, the Captured Text file will open in your default text file application.

#### PAUSING, RESTARTING AND TERMINATING A VIEW EVENTS REPORT

The View Events command will stream records to your PC as they occur in real-time. The streaming can be paused by pressing the **Ctrl** and **S** keys simultaneously. To restart the streaming, press the **Ctrl** and **Q** keys simultaneously. Press the **Esc** key at any time to terminate the report.



Be aware that HyperTerminal will occasionally garble text within its window that has been scrolled backwards and then forwards. This is not a recorder-related problem.

#### VIEWING LIVE STATUS

The current state of all Digital and Analog Inputs can also be viewed. Refer to Task 28 "Live Status View" on page 85.



### **EVENT RECORD FORMATTING OPTIONS**

Your recording device can format Event Records to include varying degrees of content. These options allow you to simultaneously inspect the status of multiple Digital Inputs and Analog Input voltage levels. Irrespective of the formatting option you select, the first line of each record will always list the time, date, input identity and type of event.

All Event Record formatting options are available to Administrative and Restricted Access sessions.

### BEFORE YOU START

The primary purpose of this task is to provide useful information to the user. At the completion of this task you will understand the content included in various Event Records. Sample records are listed throughout this task. However, if the user wishes to review actual Event Records, a PC running HyperTerminal will have to be connected to the recorder. The first five tasks of this guide explain how to prepare your PC and the log on procedure. Additionally, several Event Records from various inputs will have to be saved in the memory of the recorder.

### **EVENT RECORD FORMATTING**

The Main Menu includes two commands that allow the user to view and/or capture Event Records while using a PC. The Query Events command is the subject of Task 23 and Task 24. The View Events command is described in Task 26. Included within these commands is the ability to selectively control the content of the displayed Event Records. The Query Events and View Events commands include the Include Details (referred to as Record Details in some recording devices) setting. This setting controls the record format. In some recording devices the Include Details setting can be set to either Yes or No. Table 6 lists the applicable recording devices.

Recording Device	Include Details Setting (lines of text)		
CWR-22xT	No (1)	Yes (2)*	
CWR-22XL	No (1)	Yes (2)*	
CWR-24E	No (1)	Yes (2)*	
VDL	No (1)	Yes (2)*	
* Includes status of Digital, Analog and Virtual Inputs			

Table 6: Formatting Options

Several recorders include additional formatting options for the Include Details setting. Table 7 on page 82 lists these recorders and their formatting options.

#### How-To TRAINING GUIDE

Recording Device	Include Details Setting (lines of text)				
CWR-56	No (1)	Digital (2)	Analog (2)	Virtual (2)	All (4)
CWR-72	No (1)	Digital (2)	Analog (2)	Virtual (2)	All (4)
CWR-40E	No (1)	Digital (2)	Analog (2)	Virtual (2)	All (4)
CWR-72E	No (1)	Digital (2)	Analog (2)	Virtual (2)	All (4)
CWR-264	No (1)	Digital (2)	Analog (2)	Virtual (2)	All (4)
CWR-264E	No (1)	Digital (2)	Analog (2)	Virtual (3)	All (5)
CWR-264XL	No (1)	Digital (2)	Analog (2)	Virtual (3)	All (5)
CWR-264XC	No (1)	Digital (2)	Analog (2)	Virtual (2)	All (4)
CWR-272	No (1)	Digital (2)	Analog (3)	Virtual (2)	All (5)
CWR-272E	No (1)	Digital (2)	Analog (3)	Virtual (2)	All (5)
CWR-272XL	No (1)	Digital (2)	Analog (3)	Virtual (2)	All (5)

Table 7: Formatting Options

In the following sections Event Record data from a CWR-24E is cited. Sample data for the Include Details Yes and No formatting options are shown. The larger capacity recorders listed in Table 7 will include additional lines of text. However, the following descriptions are also applicable to their added content.

#### INCLUDE DETAILS - NO OPTION

In the vast majority of cases you will select the No option. Its text is concise and easy to interpret. Two sample records are illustrated in Figure 13. The first record is from Digital Input D13. The second is from Digital Input D20. According to the Setup Database, D20 is connected to a flashing circuit. Accordingly, the Off Event reported includes a flash rate of 46.0 fpm.



Figure 13: Include Details - No Option

Irrespective of the recording device, the entire content of an Event Record formatted with the No option is included as the first line of text in all other options. Event Records saved to the USB flash drive always use the No formatting option.

#### INCLUDE DETAILS - YES OPTION

Ĩ

As can be seen in Figure 14 on page 83, the Yes formatting option adds a second line of text that includes information for Digital, Analog and Virtual Inputs.



Figure 14: Include Details - Yes Option

#### DIGITAL AND VIRTUAL INPUT DATA

The Yes formatting option includes information regarding the status of other Digital and Virtual Inputs at the time the event was recorded. This option can be useful as it provides an instantaneous snapshot of the other Inputs. The second line of text, when read from left to right, indicates the status of Digital Inputs D1 through D20 and Virtual inputs V1 through V8. The following characters are used to denote the status information.

**Upper-case (X)**–The Digital or Virtual Input transitioned from Off to On and it is the source of the Event Record.

Lower-case (x)-This Digital or Virtual Input is in its On state and it is not the source of the Event Record.

Semi-colon (:)-The Digital or Virtual Input transitioned from On to Off and it is the source of the Event Record.

Period (.)-This Digital or Virtual Input is in its Off state and it is not the source of the Event Record.

#### **ANALOG INPUT DATA**

The Yes option also reports the voltages of each Analog Input at the time the event was recorded. This option can be useful as it provides an instantaneous snapshot of the Analog Inputs. The right-hand portion of the second line of text lists the levels of Analog Inputs A1 through A4. The following characters, appended to the end of each reading, are used to provide additional information about the readings.

Asterisk (\*)-The Analog Input has transitioned into its unacceptable range of operation and it is the source of the Event Record.

**Exclamation Mark (!)**-The Analog Input remains in its unacceptable range of operation and it is not the source of the Event Record.

**Equal Sign (=)**-The Analog Input has transitioned into its acceptable range of operation and it is the source of the Event Record.

**Blank ()**-The Analog Input remains in its acceptable range of operation and it is not the source of the Event Record.

### **R**ELATED **F**EATURES

#### ANALOG LIMIT VALUES

Limit Values are used to define acceptable and unacceptable ranges of operation for Analog Inputs. Refer to Task 16 "Configuring Analog Inputs for Use with Batteries and AC Power" on page 45.

### VIEWING LIVE STATUS

The current state of all Digital and Analog Inputs can also be viewed. Refer to Task 28 "Live Status View" on page 85.



### LIVE STATUS VIEW

At times it may be handy to know the current status of several Digital Inputs simultaneously. The state of an XR, gate down and flashing indication serves as an example. Your recording device provides this capability.



The Live Status command is available to Administrative and Restricted Access sessions.

## BEFORE YOU START

This task assumes you have already connected your recorder to a PC running HyperTerminal and you have logged onto the recorder. The first five tasks of this guide explain how to prepare your PC and the log on procedure. The Main Menu should be displayed.

# **What to Do**

#### **CWR-24E EXAMPLE**

From the Main Menu select the Live Status command. A screen similar to the following will be displayed. The sample data is from a CWR-24E.

[ESC]=exit	Li WAX-1T : TK UP WWRAP-1T: TK UP WCWTD-1T: TK UP ISLD-1T : TK UP ECWTD-1T: TK UP EWRAP-1T: TK UP DSR-1T : TK UP DSR-1T : STIK U HLDDN-1T: TK UP WAX-2T : TK UP WAX-2T : TK UP WWRAP-2T: TK UP ISLD-2T : TK UP ECWTD-2T: TK UP EWRAP-2T: TK UP EAX-2T : TK UP EAX-2T : TK UP EAX-2T : TK UP	ve Status B12-N12 : B14-N14 : B-N : BL-NL/E : VInput01: VInput02: VInput03: VInput04: VInput05: VInput06: VInput08: VInput08:	12.9Vdc 13.1Vdc 12.5Vdc 8.8Vdc Off Off Off Off Off Off Off Off	08:29:26 BATT OK BATT OK BATT OK BATT LOW	07-04-12
	EMRAP-21: TK UP EAX-2T : TK UP DSR-2T : STIK U HLDDN-2T: TK UP GC&XR-F : WARN C FLASH 1 : FLASHC	JP )FF )N			

Live Status Command for CWR-24E

The Live Status report will be continuously updated in real-time as events are created. The report comprises four sections. Each section is described in the following.

**Header**-The header lists the report title and current time and date. In some recorders the temperature inside the recorder is also listed.

**Digital inputs**-The second section includes two columns of text. It reports the state of each Digital Input. The first column identifies the input with its assigned Identifier (e.g., WAX-1T). To the immediate right is the On Event Name or Off Event Name appropriate to the input's current state (e.g., TK UP). **Analog Inputs**-The third section comprises three columns of text. The first column lists the assigned Identifier for each of the Analog Inputs (e.g., B12-N12). The second column lists the voltage at each input. Finally, the third column reports the appropriate Event Name for the voltage at its present level. The sample data reports that three voltages are within their acceptable range of operation. However, Analog Input BL-NL/E at 8.8 Vdc is reported as BATT LOW.

Virtual Inputs – The third section lists the state of each Virtual Input. The eight Virtual Inputs are in an Off state.

Press the **Esc** key to exit and return to the Main Menu.

#### **CWR-246XL EXAMPLE**

From the Main Menu select the Live Status command. A screen similar to the following will be displayed. The sample data is from a CWR-264XL.

85 Degrees F Live Status 09:06:	41 07-04-12
D001-D032 X	
D033-D064	
D065-D096	
D097-D128	
D129-D160	
D161-D192	
D193-D224	
D225-D256	
AInput01 AInput02 AInput03 AInput04 AInput05 AInput06 AInput0 24.3Vdc 0.0Vdc 0.0Vdc 0.0Vdc 0.0Vdc 0.0Vdc 0.0Vd Good Off Off Off Off Off Off Off	7 Battery c 13.4Vdc f Normal
[ESC]=exit [F1]=next page [F2]=prev page	

Live Status Command for CWR-264XL

The report's form is somewhat different than that used by the CWR-24E. In the case of Digital Inputs, Identifiers and Event Names are not listed. Instead a range of Input Numbers are reported (e.g., D001-D032). Additionally, an X indicates that the input is On (i.e., voltage is applied to the input). A period character (.) indicates that the input is Off (i.e., no voltage is applied to the input). In the sample data input D1 is On. All other inputs are Off. Press the **F1** or **F2** function keys to navigate to additional screens that report the state of Virtual Inputs.

Press the **Esc** key to exit and return to the Main Menu.

#### **R**ELATED **F**EATURES

#### VIEW EVENTS AS THEY OCCUR

This task demonstrated how to view the status of inputs in real-time. Task 26 "View Events as They Occur" on page 79 describes how to view and capture Event Records in real-time.



### USING THE MEASURE FLASH RATE FEATURES

Your Event Recorder allows you to measure and report the flash rate of any flashing circuit (e.g., EOR relay). The recorder scans the flashing pulse sequence and in turn is able to report the average flash rate while the crossing was active.



The Measure Flash Rate command is available to Administrative and Restricted Access sessions.

## BEFORE YOU START

This task assumes you have already connected your recorder to a PC running HyperTerminal and you have logged onto the recorder. The first five tasks of this guide explain how to prepare your PC and the log on procedure. The Main Menu should be displayed.

### **WHAT TO DO**

From the Main Menu select the Measure Flash Rate command. A screen similar to the following will be displayed.



1. The highlight will be located in the Input to Measure: field. Type **D** followed by the Digital Input Number of the input to be measured (e.g., **D20**).

2. Press the **F1** function key to initiate the measurement. A screen similar to the following will be displayed. It may take a few seconds for the value reported in the Flashes/Minute: field to settle to a consistent number.

Measure Fla	sh Rate
Input to Meas	ure: D20
Measuring,	[ESC] to quit
Flashes/Minute: On Time: Off Time: Cycle Time:	45.2 0.664 Sec 0.664 Sec 1.328 Sec
Detect Time:	0.664 Sec

#### Measured Flash Rate

3. To terminate the measurement press the **Esc** key twice to exit and return to the Main Menu.

As shown in the previous screen, the Measure Flash Rate command reports a Detect Time setting. For the example cited, this value is the optimum Detection Time to be used for the Digital Input.

## RELATED FEATURES FLASH RATE REPORTING WITHIN EVENT RECORDS

An Event Record will be saved to memory each time the Flashing Input signal becomes active (i.e., shortly after the crossing is activated). Similarly, an Event Record will be saved to memory shortly after the crossing becomes inactive. The latter Event Record will report the average flash rate in flashes per minute (fpm) while the crossing was active. Refer to the Event Record illustrated in Figure 6 on page 43.

Using the Query command with the input filter option, a maintainer can quickly determine the crossing's flash rate performance over time. Refer to the section entitled "Selecting Times and Report Options" on page 66.

29



## **RUNNING A DIAGNOSTIC CHECK**

You have the ability to run a series of diagnostic tests of your recording device. The tests can be performed at any time to verify the recorder's health. Each of the tests are non-destructive. Their selection will not alter the recorder's setup configuration.



The Diagnostics command is available to Administrative and Restricted Access sessions.

## BEFORE YOU START

This task assumes you have already connected your recorder to a PC running HyperTerminal and you have logged onto the recorder. The first five tasks of this guide explain how to prepare your PC and the log on procedure. The Main Menu should be displayed.

### **WHAT TO DO**

From the Main Menu select the Diagnostics command. The following menu of commands will be displayed. Each diagnostic test is described in the sections that follow. The various tests can be performed in any order that suits the user.



Diagnostic Command Menu

At the conclusion of each test, press any key to return to the Diagnostic command menu. After all of the tests have been completed press the **Esc** key to exit and return to the Main Menu.

#### **PROGRAM MEMORY TEST**

This test verifies the integrity of the program memory. As shown in the following, the test will return a fourdigit hexadecimal number that is the checksum. The checksum is unique to the firmware version. It will be tagged as either GOOD or BAD.



Program Memory Test

#### FLASH MEMORY TEST

This test will return the size (in kilobytes) of the installed Event Record memory. The results of the test should be similar to the following. Installed flash memory devices should never be reported as 0K.

Flash Memoryl: 2048K

Test Complete Press any key to continue

Flash Memory Test

Larger capacity recorders may include two, three or four flash memory devices. Each device may have a size of 2048, 4096, 8192 or 16,384 KBytes.

#### **GPS R**ECEIVER **T**EST

Your recorder may be equipped with an internal GPS Receiver and mating external antenna. The GPS Receiver allows the recorder's real-time clock (RTC) to be automatically and precisely controlled by a 100% accurate time source.

After power application, the GPS Receiver (if installed) will take a few minutes to synchronize with an available GPS satellite. After sync is achieved, the test results should be similar to the following.

GPS Time: 14:29:01.203 is Valid Location: 34.1044°, -117.8784° Test Complete

Press any key to continue

#### **GPS** Receiver Test

If the GPS Receiver has temporarily lost sync, the Valid reference will change to Not Valid. This is not necessarily a concern. The recorder's RTC is accurate in free-running mode to within ±.26 seconds per day.

Once sync is achieved the GPS Receiver test will always report time relative to UTC-0. The latitude and longitude of the recorder's geographical location are also reported. The receiver is presently in sync if an asterisk (\*) character appears to the right of the time shown on the front panel's LCD.

An Event Record is written to memory whenever the recorder's RTC is adjusted by the GPS time source. Refer to the screen entitled "End of Sample Report" on page 72. The second Event Record listed is a GPS clock sync record. Collectively these records can be used to establish a performance log of the GPS Receiver.

The following message will be displayed if the GPS Receiver option is not installed.

GPS Receiver not installed

Test Complete Press any key to continue

#### **ETHERNET PORT**

Provided the Ethernet Port option is installed and operational, the following message will be displayed.

Ethernet Okay Test Complete Press any key to continue

Ethernet Test

This test does not verify that the Ethernet Port will provide end-to-end communications. It verifies that the recorder can communicate with the installed Ethernet Port module via its hardware bus interface. For this reason MICRO-AIDE recommends that a ping test be performed in addition to the Ethernet Test.

The following message is displayed if the Ethernet Port option is not installed.

Ethernet not installed

Test Complete Press any key to continue

#### MODEM

Your recorder may also be equipped with an internal 33.6KBaud modem. The Modem test will verify that the recorder's microprocessor is able to dialog with the modem. The results of a successful test are displayed in the following.



Modem Test

The Modem found: reference may instead be reported as H or 33600. These references also indicate a successful test. The following message will be displayed if the recorder's microprocessor cannot communicate with the modem or a modem is not installed.



#### **Keypad Test**

This test will return a unique character for each key that is pressed at the front panel.

### **RELAY TEST**

Your recorder is equipped with one, two or four relay outputs. The operation of the relay(s) is controlled by the Virtual Input definitions. However, a test of the relay(s) can be performed at any time. The following menu of sub-commands will be displayed after selecting Relay Test.



**Relay Test** 

Press the appropriate numbered key to operate the relay(s).

The relay(s) will automatically resume their pre-test state at the completion of the test.

#### TEMPERATURE

As shown in the following example, Temperature reports the internal temperature of the recorder. It is typically 10 to 15°F greater than the external ambient temperature.



**Reported Internal Temperature** 

Test Complete



The internal temperature should never exceed 180°F.

## **R**ELATED **F**EATURES

#### IN CASE OF A TEST FAILURE

A failure in any test should be reported. You can contact MICRO-AIDE as noted in the following. Our "Material Return" and "Limited Warranty" policies are detailed inside the back cover of this guide.

#### MICRO-AIDE CORPORATION

685 Arrow Grand Circle Covina, CA 91722 Tel: 626-915-5502 Fax: 626-331-9484 E-mail: support@micro-aide.com



Гаsk 31

### UPDATE THE FIRMWARE TO A NEW REVISION

As with any microprocessor-based product, the various features of the product are largely implemented in stored program code referred to as firmware. As new features and capabilities are made available you may wish to update the stored firmware. This can be accomplished using either of two methods. Both are described in this task.



The Transfer Files / Firmware Upload command is only available to Administrative Access sessions.

### **G**ETTING THE LATEST FIRMWARE

Before attempting to update the installed firmware, a copy of the new firmware must be available. New firmware is posted to the MICRO-AIDE website at the following web page. www.micro-aide.com/support/downloads.html

Downloading from the website will yield a zipped file. After unzipping, the resulting file with a .hex extension must be saved to your PC or a USB flash drive.



Do not alter the filename of the unzipped .hex file.

## BEFORE YOU START

This task assumes you have already connected your recorder to a PC running HyperTerminal and you have logged onto the recorder with the Administrative Password. The first five tasks of this guide explain how to prepare your PC and the log on procedure. The Main Menu should be displayed.

## **WHAT TO DO**

#### USING A PC AND HYPERTERMINAL

From the Main Menu select the Transfer Files command. The following menu of sub-commands will be displayed.

File Transfer
D Download Setup Data CWR to PC U Upload Setup Data PC to CWR F Firmware Upload

#### Transfer Files Command

1. Select the Firmware Upload command. The following precaution will be displayed.

Are you SURE you want to upload new Firmware? No Yes

2. To proceed, select the Yes option. The following instruction will be displayed.

3. To proceed, select the Yes option. The following final precaution will be displayed.

		_
Do you want to ABORT No Yes	T this operation s	
		-

4. Select the No option. The following instruction will be displayed.

Please send Intel HEX file now.

5. Click on the command named "Transfer>Send Text File...". It is located in the menu bar at the top of the HyperTerminal window. A dialog box similar to the following will be displayed.

🍋 Send Text File					٢
🕞 🗢 🗖 Desktop	• •	👻 🍫 Search De	esktop		٩
Organize 🔻 New	folder				)
☆ Favorites	A Name	Date modified	Туре		*
🜉 Computer	adobe Photoshop CS5	12/25/2010 9:12 AM	Shortcut		
📃 Desktop	🔁 Control Panel	12/31/2009 7:21 AM	Shortcut		
📜 Downloads	📕 Dundee 10-18-10 1300 to	10/8/2011 8:56 AM	PDF File		
🔒 M-AIDE	武 Excel 2010	12/15/2010 7:41 PM	Shortcut		
📃 Recent Places	🚽 🌮 Internet Explorer	7/3/2010 9:45 AM	Shortcut		
	🛃 M-AIDE Folder	7/18/2009 8:14 AM	Shortcut		Ξ
🥽 Libraries	Mainline-2.bin	10/14/2011 7:47 AM	BIN File		
Documents	😹 MICRO-AIDE GEA	4/26/2011 12:38 PM	Shortcut		
👌 Music	🗊 Outlook 2010	6/30/2010 1:46 PM	Shortcut		
📔 Pictures	PowerPoint 2010	12/15/2010 7:41 PM	Shortcut		-
📕 Videos				+	
F	ile <u>n</u> ame:	✓ All files (*.*	)	•	
		<u>O</u> pen	<b>•</b>	Cancel	]

HyperTerminal–Send Text File Dialog Box

- 6. Above the button labeled "Open" is a drop-down list box. As shown in the previous dialog box, select "All files (\*.\*)" from the list of entries. Navigate to and select the file to be sent. It must have a .hex file extension. Click the button labeled "Open".
- 7. A series of period characters will be displayed. They indicate the progress of the transfer. After a few minutes the following message will indicate the successful conclusion of the firmware upload.

(	Please	e send	Intel	HEX	file	now																				
							 				• •	 			• • •	 • •		• • •	 • •	•		• •			• •	
							 		• •	• •	• •	 • •	• •	• •		 • •	• •	•••	 • •	•		• •	• •	• •	• •	
							 		• •	• •	• •	 • •	• •			 • •		•••	 • •	•		• •	• •	• •	• •	
							 		• •	• •	• •	 • •	• •			 • •		•••	 • •	•		• •	• •	• •	• •	
					• • • •		 	• • •	• •	• •	• •	 • •	• •	• •	•••	 • •	• •	•••	 • •	•	• •	• •	• •	• •	• •	
	Done! Press	ESC to	o cont	inue																						

Firmware Upload Completed

8. Press the **Esc** key as instructed. The following message will be displayed.

|--|

 Select the Yes option. The recorder will restart. At the completion of the re-initialization, the new firmware version will be reported in the first line of the password challenge as noted in the following sample data.
```
Model CWR-24E Event Recorder. Ver 1.08 (C) 2011 MICRO-AIDE INC.
***** NOT SET *****
Event storage capacity: 307123
Enter password:
```

Password Challenge

The recorder will resume its activities consistent with the Setup Database. The Setup Database that was previously installed remains unaffected by the firmware update.

## FROM THE FRONT PANEL

In many recording devices the firmware can also be updated from the front panel by means of the USB Host Port. A PC is not required; however, the new firmware file must be stored on a USB flash drive.

The CWR-24E, -72E, -264XL, -272XL and VDLs allow their firmware to be updated via their USB Host Ports.

To update the firmware from the front panel perform each of the following steps.

- 1. Insert the flash drive into the USB Host Port.
- 2. Press the Setup key. The following Passcode challenge will be displayed.



The factory default Passcode is *12345678*. However, the Passcode may have been changed by the user.

Enter the correct Passcode, then press the *Enter* key. The following information message will be displayed briefly.



4. The first screen of the LCD command menu will be displayed. Press the left arrow key to navigate to the second screen of commands. A command menu similar to the following will be displayed.

TLimits	PCode	Modem
Baud	Speed	Diag
Flash	Update	RESET

LCD Command Menu

5. Using the arrow keys, highlight the Update command. Press the *Enter* key. The following message will be displayed.

31

Upo	date	Fi	rmwa	are
From	USB	F٦	ash	Drive
	Ye	es	NO	

Update Command

6. Select the Yes option to proceed. The following message will be displayed.

Insert flash driv	е			
with HEX file and				
select OK				
CANCEL OK				

7. Select the OK option to proceed. Information similar to the following will be displayed.

Select hex file:	
CWR-24E V109.hex	
CWR-24E V101.hex	
CWR-72E V106.hex	

File Selection

- 8. The Update command allows the user to select a file from a list of nine. The first group of three are depicted in the example. To navigate to the second or third group, press the up or down arrow keys.
- 9. Once the correct file is highlighted, select it by pressing the *Enter* key.
- 10. The LCD will indicate that the new firmware file is being transferred. A single-line progress bar is used to indicate transfer activity. After approximately 30seconds the transfer will automatically terminate and the following message will be displayed.



11. Press the *Esc* key to proceed. Finally, the following message allows the user to run or ignore (refer to closing note) the new firmware. Select the Yes option to execute the new firmware by restarting the recorder. The Update procedure has been completed.





At the completion of the transfer, the new firmware is saved in the non-volatile memory of the recorder. However, the new firmware is not executed until such time as a restart is performed. A restart can also be performed by simply cycling power to the recorder.



Task 32

# RESET THE EVENT RECORD MEMORY

You may have logged to memory a number of Event Records that were created as the result of pre-installation testing. These records should be removed so they do not confuse or otherwise mar the maintenance and incident record data that will be collected in the future.



The Reset System command is only available to Administrative Access sessions.

## BEFORE YOU START

This task assumes you have already connected your recorder to a PC running HyperTerminal and you have logged onto the recorder with the Administrative Password. The first five tasks of this guide explain how to prepare your PC and the log on procedure. The Main Menu should be displayed.

## **WHAT TO DO**

From the Main Menu select the Setup > Reset System command. The following screen will be displayed.



### Reset System Command

The Reset Event Memory sub-command is used to erase the Event Records. The consequences of its use are described in the following points.

- The command is destructive. Erased records cannot be retrieved.
- The command erases all Event Records from memory. It cannot be used to selectively erase records.
- 1. If you elect to proceed with the reset, the following precaution will be displayed.

ERASE ALL EVENTS FROM MEMORY, ARE YOU SURE? No Yes

#### Reset Event Memory Command

2. If the Yes option is selected the reset will commence immediately. The following instruction will be displayed.

Erasing memory, do not turn power off for 60 seconds, Press any key to continue



As instructed, do not interrupt power for 60 seconds after initiating the reset. If power is interrupted it may be necessary to perform a second reset.

- 3. Press the Esc key twice to exit and return to the Main Menu.
- 4. From the Main Menu press the **Q** key to select the Query command. The following message will confirm the erasure.

No events in memory Press any key to continue

# **R**ELATED **F**EATURES

## **RESETTING THE SETUP DATABASE MEMORY**

The Reset System command includes two additional sub-commands that are described in the following section.

**Reset Setup Data**–This command will immediately restore the factory default settings to the current Setup Database. This command should be used with great caution. After resetting the Setup Database it will be necessary to either prepare a new database or restore an existing one. The latter procedure is described in Task 22 "Upload the Setup Database from a PC File" on page 63.

**Reset Both**-This command will reset the Event Record memory, as previously described, and simultaneously restore the factory defaults settings to the current Setup Database.

### MATERIAL RETURN

In the event the customer identifies a malfunction in any product, call or write MICRO-AIDE and obtain a Return Material Authorization (RMA) number from the customer service department. Return the product to MICRO-AIDE, freight prepaid, with a note (in-warranty repair) or a purchase order (out-of-warranty) for the repair listing the following information:

- RMA number issued by MICRO-AIDE
- Return shipment address
- Name and e-mail address or telephone number of person familiar with the problem
- Brief description of the problem (include any printouts that may have a bearing on the problem)
- Method of payment for repair costs (out-of-warranty)
- Send product to the following address:

### MICRO-AIDE CORPORATION

685 Arrow Grand Circle Covina, CA 91722 Tel: 626-915-5502 Fax: 626-331-9484 E-mail: support@micro-aide.com

### LIMITED WARRANTY

MICRO-AIDE warrants its products to be free from defects in material and workmanship for a period of five (5) years from the date of shipment. This warranty is in lieu of any other warranty, expressed or implied. In no event shall MICRO-AIDE be held liable for incidental or consequential damage resulting from (1) the use of any of its products, or (2) any alleged breach of this warranty provision. MICRO-AIDE's liability shall be limited to repairing or replacing, at its sole discretion, any defective product which is returned in accordance with the MICRO-AIDE Material Return Policy.

Product that has been subjected to abuse, misuse, alteration, accident, lightning damage, neglect or unauthorized installation or repair shall not be covered by this warranty. MICRO-AIDE reserves the right to make a final decision as to the existence of any failures and the cause of such failures. No warranty is made with respect to custom equipment or products produced to buyer's specifications except as mutually agreed upon in writing.

### MICRO-AIDE CORPORATION

685 Arrow Grand Circle Covina, CA 91722 Tel: 626-915-5502 Fax: 626-331-9484 E-mail: support@micro-aide.com